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Your security risk is complex.
Our security capabilities are complete.
Let’s talk.

G4S is the leading global, integrated security company, specialising in the provision of security services 
and solutions to customers. Our mission is to create material, sustainable value for our customers and 
shareholders by being the supply partner of choice in all our markets.

G4S is quoted on the London Stock Exchange and has a secondary stock exchange listing in 
Copenhagen. G4S is active in around 90 countries and has over 540,000 employees. 

SERVICES

T: +973 1771 4409 / 0994  |  F: +973 1771 6577  |  www.g4s.com  |  security@bh.g4s.com
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Bahrain overview

The Kingdom of Bahrain is an Arab island nation strategically located in the Persian
Gulf. Its official religion is Islam, and although Arabic is the official language, English 
is widely spoken too. Bahrain’s population is around 1.5 million, over half of whom are
expatriates.

In addition to providing the benefit of a stable rule of law and a developed market,
Bahrain provides strong commercial opportunities for British businesses across many
sectors and is also a good starting point for entering other GCC markets, as well as 
the wider MENA region.

Given its strategic position as a major trading hub in the region, Bahrain is an important
partner and base for UK companies in the Gulf, and there are over 500 active UK
commercial agencies and over 90 branches of British companies in Bahrain. In addition,
over 350 Bahraini companies have UK partners. The bilateral relationship between the
Kingdom of Bahrain and the UK is strong and long standing, with the bicentenary
marked in 2016.

Bahrain has the most diversified economy in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) and
is slowly moving away from dependence on oil and gas, with steady growth over the
past decade. Bahrain has strong economic ties to the wider GCC, especially Saudi
Arabia, which is also a key source of tourism. In 2018, Bahrain recorded a real GDP
growth of 1.8%.

Thank you to our Market Experts

MARKET EXPERTS
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Welcome from Marco Forgione –
Director General of the Institute of Export & International
Trade

This ‘Doing Business with Bahrain Guide’ looks at perhaps the most liberal 
of the Gulf nations and a market with plenty of opportunities for British 
businesses. 

Literally meaning ‘two seas’, Bahrain is an archipelago of 33 islands in the
Persian Gulf in the Middle East, off the coast of Saudi Arabia and Qatar. 
It therefore has a significant strategic location in the region, with much of
the world’s petroleum travelling through it in order to reach open ocean. 
A small but prosperous economy, it is ranked at 43rd in the World Bank’s
‘Doing Business’ rankings and is a member of the League of Arab States
(Arab League) and the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC).

Bahrain was the first of the Gulf states to discover oil, but it hasn’t reached
the levels of production of neighbouring Saudi Arabia, which has led to it
having a more diverse economy. The oil and gas industry is nonetheless 
the strongest in Bahrain, followed by financial services, manufacturing, 
construction, transport and communications. It has free trade agreements
with the USA, Singapore and the European Free Trade Association (EFTA), 
so could be a potential candidate for a trade agreement with the UK in the
years to come.

There are several benefits for UK businesses looking to Bahrain, including
competitive operational costs, a well-regulated financial services sector, 
an educated and skilled local workforce, and a high quality of life for 
expats. As such, Bahrain has become an important base for several UK 
businesses in the region including HSBC, Standard Chartered, Atkins and
many more. English is widely spoken in the country and British goods and
services have a strong reputation for quality and design.

9
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Companies looking to export goods for sale or consumption may need 
to apply for a general licence from the Customs Affair Directorate of the 
Ministry of Interior, and a certificate of origin is needed for all exports to clear
customs. Its import regulations are largely set within the framework of the
GCC’s Common Customs Law, though each state administers its own list 
of prohibited, restricted and exempted products. Customs duties are usually
around 5% for imported goods, but note that higher duties apply for alcohol
and tobacco, while numerous food and medical items are entirely exempt
from customs duty.

As with any market, there are some challenges to be aware of. Payment 
delays should be considered, and you’d do well to have a clear set of 
international terms and conditions to account for this – something we can
help with. When working within government agencies, you may need to
navigate your way through a fair amount of bureaucracy, while Arabic is
more commonly used in any government documentation.

If you set up an office in Bahrain, you’ll need to employ a certain quota of
Bahrainis to comply with ‘Bahrainisation’ rules. You should also be aware
that, as an Arabic nation, the weekend there lasts through Friday and 
Saturday, not Sunday.

As with any market, we at the Institute are more than happy to offer advice
and support if you are looking at Bahrain as a potential export market – just
get in touch!

Marco Forgione 
Director General of the Institute of Export & International Trade
www.export.org.uk





Foreword from Roddy Drummond, 
British Ambassador to the Kingdom of Bahrain

I am delighted to pen this foreword to our Guide to Doing Business with Bahrain. Both
the Institute of Export & International Trade and Her Majesty’s Government are eager
to support UK companies to do more business internationally and to support successful
market entry. Bahrain has plenty of opportunities and we would like to see more British
companies develop their activities here.

I arrived in Bahrain in August 2019. In my early calls on the Bahraini leadership, including
His Majesty, HRH the Prime Minister and HRH the Crown Prince, and ministers across the
government, several things have been clear. Firstly, the deep Bahraini attachment to
the relationship with the UK, and a real understanding of our politics and institutions.
Secondly, a determination to continue to strengthen our collaboration to support
Bahraini growth and diversification, and to access British expertise. My challenge is to
build on the excellent work of my predecessors and find new ways to co-operate 
to the mutual benefit of both Kingdoms. 

There is a healthy appetite for British goods and services in Bahrain, with over 180 regis-
tered British branch offices and over 700 British companies represented or active in the
market through partnerships and agents. With bilateral trade of over £1.1 billion in the
four quarters up to March 2019, the UK remains the partner of choice in many sectors.

The World Bank has rated Bahrain among the top 20 improvers in the world in their 
annual Ease of Doing Business report, improving faster than other GCC countries.
Bahrain’s reforms have made it easier to do business in nine out of ten areas rated by 
the World Bank. I hear similarly positive assessments from British legal firms, banks and
consultants, and several British firms are finding Bahrain to be an excellent base from
which to access other GCC markets, notably Saudi Arabia and its Eastern Province. 
I am delighted that British consultants will lead work on the future Saudi Causeway
project. Amongst several education successes, Strathclyde recently announced an
MSc in Fintech, the first such Masters in the GCC.

We hope this guide will be a valuable source of knowledge and support along with 
both our Institute of Export colleagues and my Department for International Trade team.
Bahrain has a dynamic and growing economy and there will be many opportunities for
UK companies to seize. I wish you all the success in your entry to the Bahrain market and
please do contact my International Trade team if we can help in any way.

Roddy Drummond
British Ambassador to the Kingdom of Bahrain 12





Introduction from Mohamed Ismail, Country Director 
of the Department for International Trade Bahrain

The Department for International Trade is committed to securing UK prosperity by 
promoting international trade and investment. Our focus is on working closely with 
UK companies to promote goods and services that have the potential to succeed 
internationally. Strong export numbers are one of the key indicators of a healthy 
economy and the UK maintains an excellent reputation for quality goods and services
in Bahrain, evidenced by the strong bilateral trade figures.

Based in the British Embassy in Bahrain, our DIT team is represented by three people
covering major sectors and opportunities in support of UK companies. We work with
our networks across the UK, sector specialists in DIT’s HQ and colleagues across the
MEAP region to best seize available opportunities for UK companies.

Through our Overseas Market Introduction Service (OMIS), we provide market access
support, country and sector-specific business advice, as well as targeted in-country
visits to export ready UK companies.

Bahrain is a unique market, small in size, but the opportunities much larger. It is 
a country in which relationships are key to successful business and a long-term 
establishment approach will open various financial and other support schemes 
within the Bahraini system. Bahrain has worked diligently to open up the economy 
to international investment and be seen as a viable entry point for international 
companies to then look further across the region.

I look forward to continue working with potential UK exporters and the Institute of 
Export & International Trade to highlight the best of our UK goods and services. If 
you would like our support in developing your entry into the Bahrain market, please 
do not hesitate to get in touch to discuss the options available.

Mohamed Ismail
Country Director of the Department for International Trade Bahrain

14



Introduction from Khalid Rashid Al Zayani OBE, 
Chairman of the Bahrain British Business Forum (BBBF)

Supporting business in Bahrain since 1995

Since its foundation, the mission of the BBBF has been clear and consistent:
to promote trade, investment and meaningful business relationships 
between Bahrain and the UK. 

The BBBF plays an important role within Bahrain; highlighting key sectors, 
exploring new directions and providing an instant network platform for 
new arrivals. One of the BBBF’s core objectives is to continue to enhance 
the economic interests of both the UK and Bahrain. We enjoy an excellent 
working relationship with the British Embassy and the Bahrain Chamber 
of Commerce & Industry. 

It is pleasing to see such a large number of British companies seeking to do
business with Bahrain. We are also pleased to see increasing numbers of
young professionals, both British and Bahraini alike, joining the Forum. With
this next generation, the strong relationship between Bahrain and Britain will
continue to grow in strength. 

The Bahrain market remains pivotal to this ambitious growth strategy. It is
clear that Bahrain is ideally placed to capitalise on this economic renaissance,
with our geographic advantages linking us to Saudi Arabia by causeway, 
logistics hubs, regional cost competitiveness and most importantly, a diverse,
deeply skilled and entrepreneurial workforce. The rise in interest continues
from Bahraini companies interested in forging partnerships and joint ventures
to harness British industrial expertise and technical know-how.

15
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Today, the BBBF is an integral contributor to the great relationship between
Bahrain and the UK. Since it formed in 1995, it has promoted trade relations
between the UK and Bahrain as well as promoting Bahrain as a regional hub 
to do business. The special business relationship and close friendship that
Bahrain and Britain have forged over hundreds of years serves both islands 
in good stead as we seek to undertake more business with each other in 
future years.

In looking ahead, we are determined to maintain and enhance our reputation
as the key business Forum in the Gulf, promoting Bahrain as the regional 
centre from which to conduct business throughout the Middle East. This, 
coupled with our vision and drive, will enable us to provide more opportunities
for networking and the development of long-term business relationships 
between members as well as with external partners.

Membership is open on both an individual and corporate basis to business
people of any nationality who wish to promote the exchange of trade and
services between Bahrain and Britain, whether resident in Bahrain or not.

With this in mind, I would encourage you to browse our site: www.bbbforum.org
and consider how membership, or access to our network of members, may
be beneficial to you.

Khalid Rashid Al Zayani OBE
Chairman
Bahrain British Business Forum (BBBF)



Start your exporting 
journey at great.gov.uk

Goodordering
London, UK



Department for International Trade (DIT)

DIT is the British Government department that helps UK-based companies 
succeed in an increasingly global economy. DIT also helps overseas 
companies bring their high quality investment to the UK’s economy. DIT’s
range of expert services are tailored to the needs of individual businesses 
to maximise their international success. DIT provides companies with 
knowledge, advice and practical support.

Through a range of unique services, including participation at selected
tradeshows, outward trade missions and providing bespoke market 
intelligence, DIT can help you crack foreign markets and get to grips 
quickly with overseas regulations and business practice.

With headquarters in London, DIT have professional advisers around the 
UK and staff across more than 100 countries. 

Contact DIT

Contact your local International Trade Team or Scottish Development 
International (SDI), Welsh Government (WG) or Invest Northern Ireland (INI)
offices to find out more about the range of services available to you.

You can find your nearest International Trade Team at: 

https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/office-finder/

General enquiry number: +44 (0) 207 215 5000
Department for International Trade
3 Whitehall Place
London
SW1A 2AW
United Kingdom

Email: enquiries@trade.gov.uk
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EXPORTERS’

EDGE

GET THE

UK Export Finance supported luxury furniture 
company Distinction to deliver a $7 million contract 
supplying furniture to the luxurious Dubai Palm 
Jumeirah Hotel.

They secured an advance payment from the buyer 
– and thanks to a $1.2 million guarantee from UK 
Export Finance, Distinction got the exporters’ edge 
and boosted their revenue by millions.

GREAT.GOV.UK/TRADE-FINANCE

LEARN MORE AT

        



UK Export Finance is the UK's 
export credit agency

 

. 

To check your eligibility for trade finance and insurance isit:
www.great.gov.uk/ -finance

UK Export Finance is the operating name of the Export Credits Guarantee Department (ECGD)

Website: www.gov.uk/uk-export-finance
Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7271 8010
Email: customer.service@ukexportfinance.gov.uk



Simply search 
‘Doing Business Guides’ 

on Google Play or via 
the App Store

Download the App for 
Windows, Mac, iOS, or Android

Powered by



During the last ten years IMA has worked
with the British Government's overseas
trade and investment department, the
Department for International Trade (DIT)
[formerly UK Trade & Investment (UKTI)],
and has written, designed, produced,
launched and distributed over one 
million copies of more than 100 country-
specific print and multi-media based 
reports, guides and publications, including
the internationally-recognised ‘Doing
Business Guide’ series of trade publications.

These are composed of market and 
industry sector-specific, multi-format print
and digital trade reports, together with
some of the internet’s most visited inter-
national trade websites – all of which are
designed to advise and assist UK 
companies looking to trade with and 
invest in overseas markets. These reports
and guides are then distributed free-of-
charge through the IMA and DIT global 
networks – over 500 distribution outlets in
total. Further distribution takes place at
global exhibitions, roadshows, conferences
and trade missions, and IMA receives
daily requests for additional copies of 
the guides from these networks and from
businesses considering exporting. 

Each of IMA’s 'Doing Business Guides’ is
produced in three formats: a full colour,
glossy, paper-based brochure; a sup-
porting fully-interactive and updatable
multi-media based website; and the
website contents available as a free-of-
charge downloadable smartphone/
tablet app. 

The guides’ contents focus on the market
in question, how to approach that market
and the help and support available, and 
include informative market overviews,
plus details of business opportunities, 
listings with website links to British and 
Foreign Government support services
and essential private sector service-
provider profiles.

Sponsoring a ‘Doing Business Guide’
therefore offers a unique opportunity to
positively promote your products and 
services to high-profile business leaders,
specific exporters, investors and effective
business travellers who will be actively
seeking out service providers to assist
them in developing their business interests
in the targeted markets.

For more information on IMA 
please visit our website: 

www.DoingBusinessGuides.com

Contact IMA
Office address

IMA Ltd. 2nd Floor, 32 Park Green
Macclesfield SK11 7NA

Email: info@ima.uk.com

General enquiries switchboard
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562

Media enquiries
Newsdesk & out of hours 
T: +44 (0) 1298 79562

About International Market Advisor (IMA)

International Market Advisor (IMA) works with British and foreign government departments,
Embassies, High Commissions and international Chambers of Commerce throughout
the world. Our work helps to identify the most efficient ways for British companies to
trade with and invest in opportunity-rich overseas markets. 
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We work in partnership with our clients to design better buildings.
Mas Architecture Int

mas-architecture.co.uk  .  info@mas-architecture.co.uk
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ABOUT THIS GUIDE

This guide aims to provide a route map of the way ahead, together with signposts to
other sources of help.

The main objective of this Doing Business with Bahrain Guide is to provide you 
with basic knowledge about Bahrain; an overview of its economy, business culture,
potential opportunities and to identify the main issues associated with initial research,
market entry, risk management and cultural and language issues.

We do not pretend to provide all the answers in the guide, but novice exporters in
particular will find it a useful starting point. Further assistance is available from the 
Department for International Trade (DIT) team in Bahrain. Full contact details are 
available in this guide.

To help your business succeed in Bahrain we have carefully selected a variety of 
essential service providers as ‘Market Experts’. 

The guide is available in 4 formats:

• this full colour hard-copy brochure 

• a ‘free’ downloadable 'mobile device-friendly’ app – available from the 

Apple App Store and Google Play Store

• the website: www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk  

• PDF download/e-flipbook (available to download from the guide website)

Doing Business with Bahrain Guide Team:

Project Director: Craig Smith

Managing Editors: Olivia Taylor / Brian Underwood

Sponsorship Managers: James Clowes / Cheryl Hughes

Creative Managers: Paul King / Claire King

Creative Consultants: Twistedgifted / www.twistedgifted.com

Production Co-ordinator: Megan Collingwood / Kitty Waldron-Draba

Printed using materials
from sustainable sources

‘Doing Business with Bahrain Guide’ published in the UK by International 
Market Advisor Ltd. © 2019 International Market Advisor Ltd (unless otherwise
stated). All rights reserved. Contains public sector information licensed under
the Open Government Licence v3.0.

www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk



BAHRAIn

The Kingdom of Bahrain, a small island country in
the Persian Gulf, has direct access to its largest
neighbour, Saudi Arabia, via the 25 km-long King
Fahd Causeway to the west. To the east of
Bahrain lies the Qatar peninsula. 

Bahrain flag with skyline of Manama at Bahrain Fort. A UNESCO World Heritage Site
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[Source – FCO Economics Unit (Nov 2019), UN Statistics Division, World Bank, gov.uk] 

Summary

Area: 
710 km2

Population:   
1.48 million

Urban population: 
89.3%

Population density:   
2,017.274 people per km2

Population growth rate:
2.026% change

Capital city:
Manama

Official language: 
Arabic

Currency: 
Bahraini Dinar (BHD)

nominal GDP:  
US $37.7 billion

Real annual GDP growth:
1.8%

GDP per capita: 
US $25,482.7

Annual inflation rate:    
2.1%

Unemployment rate:  
3.9%

General government gross debt:  
94.7% of GDP

Fiscal balance: 
-11.9% of GDP

Current account balance: 
US $-2.2 billion/-5.9% of GDP

Exports of goods to UK:  
£364 million

Exports of services to UK: 
£57 million

Imports of goods from UK:   
£512 million

Imports of services from UK:   
264 million

Why Bahrain?



The Kingdom of Bahrain is an Arab island 
nation strategically located in the Persian
Gulf. Its official religion is Islam, and although
Arabic is the official language, English is
widely spoken too. Bahrain’s population is
around 1.5 million, over half of whom are
expatriates.

Bahrain is business-friendly and has a small
but prosperous economy, ranking 43rd in the
World Bank’s 2020 Ease of Doing Business
report. See: http://www.doingbusiness.org/
en/data/exploreeconomies/bahrain for 
further information. Bahrain remains the most
important commercial and financial centre in
the Gulf, although it faces growing competition
from the United Arab Emirates (UAE).

The Heritage Foundation’s 2019 Index of
Economic Freedom ranked Bahrain 5th

amongst 14 countries in the Middle East and
North Africa (MENA) region, with an overall
score above the regional and world averages.
See: https://www.heritage.org/index/country/
bahrain for further information.

In addition to providing the benefit of a stable
rule of law and a developed market, Bahrain
provides strong commercial opportunities for
British businesses across many sectors and is
also a good starting point for entering other
GCC markets, as well as the wider MENA 
region.

[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk: Bahrain, 
DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain, Heritage
Foundation, World Bank, gov.uk]

Geography

The Kingdom of Bahrain, a small island country
in the Persian Gulf, has direct access to its
largest neighbour, Saudi Arabia, via the 25 
km-long King Fahd Causeway to the west. To
the east of Bahrain lies the Qatar peninsula.

Although only slightly larger than the island of
Singapore, the state consists of two separate
groups of islands, approximately 50 km from
north to south and 15 km from east to west,
with the main island of Bahrain accounting
for around 85% of the total land area.

The central region of the main island is
mostly barren and rocky, rising to around 130
m above sea level. The south and west of the
island consists of bleak sandy plains and salt
marshes, whereas the north and northwest
contain many springs and wells, creating 
fertile soil, many vegetable gardens and 
verdant groves of date palms, for which
Bahrain is renowned.

Manama, the country’s chief city, port and
strikingly modern cosmopolitan capital, lies
on the northeastern tip of the country. It 
contains the main government offices, 
financial and business district, Western shops
and large hotels.

Al-Muharraq is the second-largest city in
Bahrain, located on a small island to the
northeast of the main island, to which it is
joined by a causeway. The city is a stark 
contrast to the modern development of 
Manama, consisting of many densely settled,
narrow winding streets.

28
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Summer temperatures are humid and often
exceed 35°C, particularly during July and 
August – and on rare occasions, even up to
50°C. Winter months, from December to
March, are cooler, with temperatures around
21°C. There are, on average, only about ten
days of rain a year, all during the winter.

Government

Political context
Since the accession of Sheikh Hamad bin Isa
Al-Khalifa to the Bahraini throne in 1999,
steps towards democratisation and political
reform have transformed Bahrain from an 
absolute monarchy into a constitutional
monarchy with an elected National Assembly.

Alongside this reformist programme, greater
emphasis has been placed upon enshrining
the ‘Rule of Law’ and the individual liberty 
of people before the law into the Bahraini
Constitution. A summary of these rights in 
relation to the Constitution can be found 
on the Bahraini Ministry of Foreign Affairs
website: https://www.mofa.gov.bh/About-
Bahrain/RuleofLaw/tabid/125/language/
en-US/Default.aspx.

The passing of Bahrain’s Constitution 
established a bicameral parliament – 
comprising of a National Assembly with both
an upper appointed chamber and lower
elected chamber known as the Nuwab – and
restored elections which regularly take place
every four years.

Since 2002, women have been granted 
equal citizenship and voting rights to men, 
although it remains the case that women 
are underrepresented within Bahrain’s 
democratic institutions.



The King of Bahrain reserves the right to 
amend the Kingdom’s Constitution and has
therefore been heralded for the period of
top-down legal reform which Bahrain has 
experienced over the last two decades.

However, following political protests in 2011
and a subsequent period of civil unrest 
emanating from dissatisfied anti-government
groups, the Bahraini Government has 
increasingly sought to place restrictions
upon these protesters on the grounds that
they incite violence. Consequently, the main
opposition groups – the Shiite Al-Wefaq and
the secular Wa’ad – had both been barred
from fielding candidates in the most recent
elections in 2018. These developments have
received both international and domestic
scrutiny in terms of the legitimacy and 
outcome of the vote.

Further information regarding the human
rights situation in Bahrain may be found
within the FCO’s most recent annual Human
Rights Priority Country report: https://www.
gov.uk/government/publications/human-
rights-and-democracy-report-2018/human-
rights-and-democracy-the-2018-foreign-and
-commonwealth-office-report.

More details of the security status and up-to-
date information on the emerging political
situation in Bahrain can be found on both 
the FCO’s travel advice page for Bahrain 
at: https://www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-
advice/bahrain and the British Embassy 
Manama webpages: https://www.gov.uk
/world/bahrain.

Business and labour laws
As a replacement and update to the previous
1976 labour laws, the King of Bahrain issued a

new labour law in 2012 which aligns Bahrain’s
legislation with other fellow Arab states and
the international treaty obligations to which
Bahrain is a signatory. Details of these 
modifications to labour law may be found on
Bahrain’s Labour Market Regulatory Authority
webpage: http://lmra.bh/portal/en/page/
show/199.

These laws grant employees a more extensive
set of rights than before, in recognition of the
need to: improve the minimum standard of
working conditions; provide clear contractual
terms for domestic employees; expand 
entitlements to annual leave, sick leave and
maternity leave; and to prevent discrimination
on the grounds of sex, ethnicity, origin or 
beliefs.

As of 2017, the previous kafala sponsorship
system, which governed the regulations 
requiring the sponsorship of foreign labourers
in Bahrain, was replaced by a Flexi Permit. This
is a two-year permit allowing eligible workers
to participate in Bahrain’s labour market 
without the need for an employer to sponsor
them. 

More information and advice regarding how
these changes may impact labour legislation,
and how this permit applies in individual 
instances involving expatriates, may be found
on Bahrain’s Labour Market Regulatory 
Authority website: http://lmra.bh/portal/en/
page/show/325.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, Bahrain Labour
Market Regulatory Authority, FCO Overseas 
Business Risk, gov.uk]
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Economic overview

Bahrain has the most diversified economy in
the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) and is
slowly moving away from dependence on oil
and gas, with steady growth over the past
decade. Bahrain has strong economic ties to
the wider GCC, especially Saudi Arabia, which
is also a key source of tourism. In 2018,
Bahrain recorded a real GDP growth of 1.8%.

According to the Heritage Foundation’s 2019
Index of Economic Freedom, Bahrain continues
to be affected by political unrest following the
Arab Spring in 2011, driven by long-standing
complaints of the country’s Shia majority. 
Rising global oil prices should help the 
government reduce the budgetary deficit, 
but persistent social unrest and intermittent
political violence add pressure to maintain
higher public spending.

The Bahraini Government therefore faces 
a long term challenge to boost its regional
competitiveness and reconcile revenue 
constraints against popular pressure to 
maintain a large public sector and generous
state subsidies. For further information, see:
https://www.heritage.org/index/country/bahrain.

Growth potential
Bahrain has grown steadily over the past few
years and the economic outlook remains
largely positive. Bahrain’s gross domestic
product (GDP) grew by 1.8% in 2019.

The government has an increased focus 
on economic diversification as part of the
Bahrain Economic Vision 2030 goals, with
aims to enhance private sector growth and
reduce reliance on oil and gas.

For further information on the Economic 
Vision 2030 see the Ministry of Industry,

Commerce and Tourism (MOIC) site at:
http://www.moic.gov.bh/en/Ministry/bahrain-
economic-vision-2030.

Bahrain is undergoing a surge in infrastructure
development following allocation of funds
from the GCC Development Programme 
to improve public services and address 
socio-economic issues.

Main contributors to GDP besides oil and gas
are:

• financial services

• manufacturing

• construction

• transport and communications

• real estate and business services

Further areas for growth include:

• new infrastructure developments

• free trade agreements

• development of a strong banking system

Free trade agreements (FTAs)
Bahrain is a member of the Greater Arab Free
Trade Area (GAFTA), which gives it duty-free
access throughout all GAFTA states.

Bahrain has free trade agreements with:

• the USA

• Singapore

• the European Free Trade Association 
(EFTA)

www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk31



[Source – Government of Bahrain (MOIC), DIT Trade
and Investment guide: Bahrain, Heritage Foundation
(2019), FCO Overseas Business Risk: Bahrain, GAFTA,
gov.uk]

World rankings
In addition:

• In Transparency International's latest 
2019 Corruption Perceptions Index 
(announced January 2020), Bahrain is 
ranked 77th out of 180 countries (the UK 
ranks 12th): https://www.transparency.org/
country/BHR

• Bahrain is ranked 43rd out of 190 
countries in the World Bank’s 2020 Ease 
of Doing Business Index (the UK ranks 
8th): http://www.doingbusiness.org/ 
en/data/exploreeconomies/bahrain

• The World Economic Forum’s Global 
Competitiveness Report 2018-19 ranks 
Bahrain 50th out of 140 (the UK ranks 8th): 
http://reports.weforum.org/global- 
competitiveness-report-2018/country-
economy-profiles/#economy=BHR

• Bahrain is ranked 54th out of 180 
countries in the Heritage Foundation’s 
2019 Index of Economic Freedom (the 
UK ranks 7th): https://www.heritage.org/ 
index/country/bahrain

UK and Bahrain trade

The bilateral relationship between the 
Kingdom of Bahrain and the UK is strong and
long standing, with the bicentenary marked in
2016.

Many senior Bahraini business and political
figures were educated in the UK, and 

consider the UK their second home. These
strong business ties between both countries
create a strong appetite for continued 
bilateral trade and investment.

Given its strategic position as a major trading
hub in the region, Bahrain is an important
partner and base for UK companies in the
Gulf, and there are over 500 active UK 
commercial agencies and over 90 branches
of British companies in Bahrain. In addition,
over 350 Bahraini companies have UK 
partners.

British businesses already operating in Bahrain
include HSBC, Standard Chartered, Atkins,
National Express and Ordnance Survey.

Bahrain is now one of the UK’s largest export
markets in the GCC, receiving £439 million of
goods plus £228 million of services from the
UK in 2018.

The top five UK exports to Bahrain were:

• nuclear reactors, boilers and mechanical 
appliances

• road vehicles

• electrical machinery and equipment

• optical, photographic and 
cinematographic, and medical instruments

• articles of apparel and clothing accessories

Benefits for UK businesses
There are a number of reasons to choose
Bahrain as an export destination:

• has the most liberal tax regime in the Gulf

• good communication links
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• direct access into Saudi Arabia via 
causeway

• 100% foreign ownership of business
assets and real estate allowed, with no 
‘free zone’ restrictions

Strengths of the market
Strengths of the Bahraini market include:

• competitive operational costs

• well-regulated financial services sector

• advanced logistics services

• dedicated industrial zones

• educated and skilled local workforce

• high quality of life for foreign residents 
recorded by HSBC Expat Explorer Survey 
(https://www.expatexplorer.hsbc.com/ 
survey/)

Contact a DIT Export Adviser at:
https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/triage/
location/ for a free consultation if you are 
interested in exporting to Bahrain.

Contact UK Export Finance (UKEF) about
trade finance and insurance cover for UK
companies. You can also check the current
UKEF cover position for Bahrain. See:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/country-
cover-policy-and-indicators#bahrain.

[Source – World Trade Organization, Government of
Bahrain, Office for National Statistics, FCO Economics
Unit, DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
UKEF, gov.uk]



BAHRAIn

If you already trade internationally, and have
decided Bahrain is part of your business strategy,
you are advised to contact DIT at the British 
Embassy Manama prior to your visit to discuss
your objectives and what help you may need. 

Isa Cultural Centre in Manama, Bahrain
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A wealth of free information and
practical advice on our website
using:

Step-by-step guides covering 
the whole export journey from 
‘Selecting a market’ to ‘Delivery 
and documentation’

A comprehensive webinar 
programme covering all aspects 
of international trade

The online Export Action Plan 
tool helping businesses create a
roadmap to successful new markets

Quarterly competitions for the
chance to win £3,000 cash and
further support

Sign up today to take your 
next steps in international trade

Register for free on www.opentoexport.com for updates on 
our content and webinars, and to start your Export Action Plan.

Open to Export is a free online information 
service from The Institute of Export & International

Trade, dedicated to helping small UK businesses
get ready to export and expand internationally

Powered By

How can we help?



Help available for you

Support from the Economic 
Development Board Bahrain (EDB 
Bahrain)

Whether it is key industry assessments, 
advisory on processes and requirements, or
insight into where to establish new global
headquarters, EDB Bahrain is here to make
things easier.

If you are setting up a new business, opening
a branch or expanding your global presence,
EDB Bahrain can help facilitate the process
and advise on costs, infrastructure, workforce
requirements, regulatory, legal and tax issues.

With worldwide offices and a dedicated team,
EDB Bahrain is ready to help you make the
right decision for your investment or 
business.

Contact EDB Bahrain at: https://bahrainedb.
com/setting-up-a-business/how-we-can-
help/ for further information.

[Source – EDB Bahrain]

Support from the Bahrain Chamber of 
Commerce & Industry (BCCI)

The BCCI is considered one of the leading
Chambers of Commerce and Industry in the
region. It has kept pace with economic 
development in Bahrain since its inception 
and represents and supports the private 
sector as the engine of economic growth.

The Chamber enhances the importance of
the role played by the private commercial
and industrial sector in Bahrain’s development.

Since its launch, the Chamber has contributed
to the welfare and prosperity of society
through the development and support of its
commercial and economic events, as well as
providing various services and broadening
their scope to keep up with the aims of 
economic development in Bahrain.

Contact the Bahrain Chamber of Commerce
& Industry at: https://www.bcci.bh/en for 
further information.

[Source – BCCI] 

Support from the UK Department for 
International Trade (DIT)

The UK Department for International Trade
(DIT) provides tailored support packages for
companies who are:

• first time exporters (FTEs)

• small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs)

• medium-sized businesses (MSBs)

Business opportunities
If you are a UK-registered company you can
benefit from a unique programme, ‘Exporting
is GREAT’, presenting real-time export 
opportunities that you can apply for online.
This is part of the drive to significantly 
increase the number of UK companies 
exporting.

‘Exporting is GREAT’ is part of the UK 
Government’s ‘GREAT’ campaign, and 
presents live export opportunities to UK 
businesses across a range of media outlets
and digital channels. Hundreds of these 
export opportunities, with a potential total 
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value of more than £300 million, are hosted
on: https://www.great.gov.uk/.  

‘GREAT’ has tailored support and advice for 
UK businesses on how to start exporting or
increase the amount of goods and services
they sell overseas.

You can:

• read guidance for new, occasional and 
frequent exporters

• find out about services offered by ‘GREAT’
partners

• use the selling online overseas tool at: 
https://www.great.gov.uk/selling-online-
overseas/ to find the best marketplaces 
to showcase your products online – you 
can take advantage of special deals 
negotiated by the government for UK 
businesses, and find out more about the 
UK Government’s E-Exporting Programme,
at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
e-exporting

• apply at: https://www.great.gov.uk/
export-opportunities/ for overseas export
opportunities for your products or services

• create a business profile at: https://www. 
great.gov.uk/find-a-buyer/, which will 
allow you to promote your products and 
services to international buyers

• search for events, trade fairs, missions 
and webinars relevant to your sector or 
overseas markets, at: https://www.events. 
great.gov.uk/ehome/index.php?eventid 
=200183029&

• see upcoming DIT international ministerial
visits, at: https://www.events.great.gov.uk/
ehome/index.php?eventid=200183333&



• apply for a tradeshow access grant 
at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
tradeshow-access-programme to 
attend an overseas event

• contact a trade adviser in your area, at: 
https://www.great.gov.uk/contact/office-
finder/

Getting local market help to sell overseas
DIT has trade specialists who can help you
commission services from local experts 
overseas. This includes:

• country and sector advice

• local market research

• support during overseas visits

• identification of possible business 
partners

• preparation for exhibitions and events

To find out more about commissioning any
of these services, contact a DIT Trade Adviser
in your region at: https://www.great.gov.uk/
contact/triage/location/ for a free consultation,
or see further details at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/organisations/department-for-
international-trade/about-our-services.

If you already trade internationally, and have
decided Bahrain is part of your business 
strategy, you are advised to contact DIT at the
British Embassy Manama prior to your visit to
discuss your objectives and what help you
may need. See: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us.

In-market support
They can provide a range of Bahrain-specific
services for you, including the provision of
market information, validated lists of agents/
potential partners, key market players or 
potential customers; establishing interest
from such contacts; and arranging in-market
appointments. In addition, they can also 
organise events for you to meet contacts in
Bahrain, or to promote your company and
your products/services.

For further information about DIT services,
see: https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade/about-our-services.

[Source – DIT, gov.uk]

Support from the Institute of Export & 
International Trade (IOE&IT)

Raising the profile of international trade 
qualifications and experienced members is
only part of how IOE&IT membership is 
essential for any individual or business 
involved with global trade.

Importantly, the IOE&IT also offer access to a
unique range of benefits and services specific
to international trade: 

• Help with any export issues you come 
across. Our team of experts can help with
questions on documentation, export 
controls, the UK Bribery Act, customs and
VAT procedures, regulatory and compliance
issues, insurance issues, payment terms, 
transport and logistics. Members get free 
access to our experts via a technical 
helpline. See: https://www.export.org.uk/ 
page/Export_Helpline
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• A voice for your ideas and concerns. We 
represent your point of view and feed 
back to government, HMRC and other 
influencing bodies on issues that impact 
you, plus participate in Institute responses
to central government with regard to 
proposed legislative changes

• A complete range of international trade 
qualifications – for those that have no 
experience, up to those who wish to 
qualify themselves to take a business 
degree. The Institute's qualifications are 
widely recognised as providing both 
employers and employees with the 
necessary international business practice 
linked to satisfying career planning and 
development. See: https://www.export. 
org.uk/page/qualifications

• A range of short courses giving you the 
skills and expertise you need to gain a 
competitive advantage in the challenging
and complex world of export, import and
international trade. See: https://www.
export.org.uk/page/TrainingCourses

• An extensive events programme to help 
you share information and connect at 
every level in the international trade 
community, whether it is sector-specific 
or regional. See: https://www.export.org. 
uk/events/event_list.asp

• Inclusion in surveys to research the 
attitudes and changes to world trade

For more information on how the IOE&IT 
can help you, or on becoming a member, 
contact the IOE&IT at: https://www.export.
org.uk/page/about.

Open to Export
Open to Export is the IOE&IT’s free online 
advice service for UK companies looking to
grow internationally. It offers free information
and support on anything to do with exporting
and hosts online discussions via its forum,
webinars and social media, where businesses
can ask any export question and learn from
each other.

Open to Export can be accessed at:
http://opentoexport.com/.

[Source – Institute of Export & International Trade]
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In the initial stages of international
business development, it’s essential
to seek support and advice from
those who are well-established 
and experienced in the field. For
companies looking to expand into
the Bahrain market, PRIME is the
number one business solutions
provider for foreign businesses –
there’s no need to look any further. 

Established in 2005, PRIME is the first
company in Bahrain to specialise in office
and business services. Widely renowned
as pioneers in the industry in Bahrain,
the team have assisted hundreds of 
foreign companies establish a presence
in the country and played an integral 
part in their subsequent success. From
company registration and visa applica-
tions to translation services and legal
support, PRIME specialises in a range of
services that make the transition to new
territory seamless for their clients. 

Instant Offices & Business Centre



One company that experienced this first
hand is Bluewater Bio Limited – award-
winning global specialists in cost-effective
water and wastewater management. 

Based in the UK, the brand already
boasted an established international
presence, but thanks to Bahrain’s liberal
attitude toward foreign investment and
its position as one of the freest economies
in the region, Bluewater Bio Limited 
decided to branch out further and set 
up its Middle Eastern outpost there. The
decision was not taken lightly – moving
into a new business landscape can be a
long and complicated process – but with
prior experience working with PRIME, the
company directors had faith the expansion

could be sped up and simplified. Quite
simply, they had total confidence in
PRIME during what was an essential next
step for the business. 

“We needed to move fast and efficiently
in establishing our Middle East hub,” says
a Bluewater Bio Limited spokesperson.
“Enlisting the help of a company with 
expertise in Bahrain was essential. PRIME
has a proven track record of assisting
many other international companies to
set up in the country, so we trusted they
would provide the correct advice.” So
began a working relationship that allowed
Bluewater Bio Limited to fast-track the
opening of their Bahrain branch; a 
decision that has seen the company 
excel in the region since 2016. 

With in-depth knowledge of the business
landscape and a wealth of connections
across the various government bodies,
PRIME assisted on a number of initiation
tasks. “PRIME has solid working relation-
ships with various ministries and labour
authorities,” the spokesperson explained.
“During set-up, we took advantage of
many of their services. In particular, we
found the visa processing services to be
extremely professional and straightfor-
ward.” On this front, it’s not only about



connections, but also about knowing all
of the latest Labour Market Regulatory
Authority rules and regulations – a 
combination that really allows PRIME to
get the job done. 

The company’s expertise was enlisted in
a range of other tasks too. “We needed
an office and assistance in keeping our
business compliant with Bahrain’s 
commercial laws,” continues the
spokesperson. “In general, our introduction
to doing business in the country was very
much made easier by PRIME. They have
local knowledge but also understand and
deliver Western service levels. This sets
them apart from many other service
providers in the country.” Indeed, this 
attention to detail offered by a small but
highly effective team is mentioned by
clients time and time again – it’s not 
surprising this has culminated in estab-
lishing long-term working relationships
that extend far beyond the clients’ initial
briefs. 

“To this day, PRIME continue to give 
us what we need to keep our business
operating successfully,” says the Bluewa-
ter Bio Limited spokesperson. “From the 
provision of our offices and taking care 
of labour authority registrations and visa
processing for company employees, to
making sure we’re ahead of any company
renewals required by various government
bodies, and generally ensuring we’re able

to conduct business freely in the region –
we couldn’t have done it without them.”
Proof, if needed, that all success stems
from solid roots, and in Bahrain, there’s
no company better able to provide the
optimum environment for growth than
PRIME.   

PRIME Instant Offices & Business Centre
Al Jasrah Tower

Building 95, Road 1702
Block 317, Diplomatic Area

Kingdom of Bahrain

contact@primeinstantoffices.com 
+973 1757 0400



BAHRAIn

You will need a visa to enter Bahrain. Ensure that
you check the latest entry requirements with the
Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain. 

King Faisal Highway in Bahrain
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Getting here and advice about your stay

Entry requirements

Passport validity
Your passport should be valid for a minimum
period of six months from the date of entry
into Bahrain.

Visas
You will need a visa to enter Bahrain. Ensure
that you check the latest entry requirements
with the Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain
at: http://www.bahrainembassy.co.uk/, before
you travel.

You can obtain a single entry visit visa on 
arrival at Bahrain International Airport or at the
King Fahd Causeway. Depending on need
and the discretion of the Immigration Officer,
visas can be issued for 24 hours, 72 hours, 2
weeks or 3 months. You may need to provide
evidence of onward or return travel, and 
business visitors should bring a letter of 
invitation.

Alternatively, to avoid potential problems on
arrival, you can get a visa in advance, either
online at: https://www.evisa.gov.bh/ or from
the Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain in the
UK. See: http://www.bahrainembassy.co.uk/.

Journalists or representatives of NGOs visiting
Bahrain should get a visa before travelling
rather than on arrival.

Once in Bahrain it is possible to renew your
visa via Nationality, Passport and Residence
Affairs (NPRA) at the Ministry of Interior, and
you can apply for residency through the
Labour Market Regulatory Authority (LMRA).

Visiting Saudi Arabia
Check the terms of your Saudi visa before
travelling if you are planning to visit Saudi 
Arabia, as Saudi visas may only allow for entry
into the country by air rather than across a
land border such as the causeway from
Bahrain.

UK Emergency Travel Documents
UK Emergency Travel Documents (ETDs) are
not valid for entry into Bahrain. However, they
are accepted for airside transit and exit from
Bahrain.

Yellow fever certificate requirements
You can check whether you need a yellow
fever certificate by visiting the National Travel
Health Network and Centre’s TravelHealthPro
website at: https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/
country/20/bahrain#Vaccine_
recommendations.

Exit requirements
You must have legal status in Bahrain when
you leave, and not have any unpaid debt, not
be involved in legal proceedings nor subject
to a travel ban, or you may be prevented from
leaving. If you overstay, or fail to extend your
legal residency, you can be fined.

Previous travel to Israel
If you have previously visited Israel and have
evidence such as an Israeli entry/exit stamp in
your passport, this should not normally cause
a problem when entering Bahrain. However,
the Bahraini authorities determine the right of
entry into the country, so it is best to contact
the Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain in
London at: http://www.bahrainembassy.co.uk/
if you have any concerns before you travel.



Work visas
You are not permitted to work in Bahrain with
just a visit visa. You will need to apply for a
work permit in Bahrain. Your employer can
arrange and process the necessary application
documents via the Labour Market Regulatory
Authority, at: http://lmra.bh/portal/en/home.

Further details on visas and work permits can
be found on the Bahrain Ministry of Foreign
Affairs website at: https://www.mofa.gov.bh/
Default.aspx?tabid=256.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, FCO Foreign
Travel Advice: Bahrain, gov.uk]

Local laws and customs

Although Bahrain is a socially liberal state,
many Bahrainis are conservative. You should
respect local traditions, customs, laws and 
religions at all times and dress conservatively
in public places, particularly religious sites. 
Be aware of your actions to ensure that they
do not offend, especially during the holy
month of Ramadan and Shia religious 
festivals.

In 2020, the holy month of Ramadan is 
expected to start on 24th April and finish on
23rd May. See the UK Government’s guidance
on travelling during Ramadan at: https://
www.gov.uk/guidance/travelling-during-
ramadan. Bahrainis observe some additional
religious anniversaries that may not be 
celebrated in other Gulf countries.

Same-sex activity between consenting 
adults who are at least 21 years of age is not 
criminalised under Bahraini law, although
sodomy is illegal. Bahrain is a liberal country
compared with most others in the region, 
but many Bahrainis do hold conservative 
social views. Before you travel, see the UK 

Government’s information and advice page
for the LGBT community at: https://www.
gov.uk/guidance/lesbian-gay-bisexual-and-
transgender-foreign-travel-advice.

Under Bahraini law, all residents and visitors
must carry photographic ID, and it is an offence
not to be able to present photographic ID if
you are asked to do so by a member of the
Bahraini authorities, or you may be subject to
a fine of up to 300 BHD.

[Source – FCO Foreign Travel Advice: Bahrain, gov.uk]

Safety and security

Demonstrations
Demonstrations and protests do take place
regularly, particularly on the anniversary dates
of significant events and sometimes with 
attempts to disrupt traffic. Protests in villages
and near economic centres occur, with burn-
ing tyres, the throwing of Molotov cocktails
and improvised explosive devices potentially
being used. There are often clashes between
government security forces and protesters, 
so you need to remain vigilant and follow the
advice of the local authorities.

Historic trouble-spots where such incidents
have taken place include Sitra, Bani Jamra,
Karbabad, Saar, Karzakan, the Budaiya 
Highway and surrounding villages, and further
protests could erupt at any time without
warning. During demonstrations, roads can
become blocked, resulting in diversions.
There have been no direct threats or attacks
on British nationals but you should remain
vigilant and be aware of your surroundings 
at all times.

If you encounter a large public gathering or
demonstration, leave the area immediately. If
you see a suspicious item, do not approach

www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk49



or touch it but move away and call the police
on 999 or the Police Hotline 8000 8008.
During daylight hours travel on main routes is
generally orderly. There are some police
checkpoints but there can be explosive 
devices on major highways.

Political developments in the region continue
to have an impact on local public opinion, so
you should be aware of local sensitivities, 
follow news reports and be alert to any 
developments which may trigger public 
disturbances.

Crime
Around 10,000 British nationals live in
Bahrain, and thousands more visit each year.
Although most visits are trouble free, female
visitors should take care when travelling alone
at night and are advised to use one of the
reputable taxi companies.

Road travel
You are permitted to drive for up to three
months in Bahrain with a valid UK driving 
licence, after which you will need to get 
either a local licence or an International 
Driving Permit (IDP). However, an IDP will
need to be certified by the Bahrain Traffic 
Authority upon arrival.

If you intend to use an IDP in Bahrain, since
28th March 2019, this has to be a 1968 IDP as
1926 IDPs previously issued by the UK will no
longer be accepted for use in Bahrain. IDPs
are available over the counter from 2,500 UK
Post Offices, but as you cannot buy one 
outside the UK, you will need to get one 
before you travel. See: https://www.gov.uk/
driving-abroad/international-driving-permit
for further information.

There is zero tolerance to drink-driving in
Bahrain. First time fines are at least £900 and
a possible driving ban.

Air travel
Security checks on arrival at Bahrain Interna-
tional Airport can be lengthy.

Sea travel
Be careful when travelling by dhow, and 
always ensure life jackets are available. The
safety of dhows may not be up to UK 
standards.

Many areas of the Gulf are highly sensitive.
Vessels entering these areas may be detained
and inspected, and passengers even arrested,
so you should always check before entering
these waters or visiting ports.

Vessels operating in the Gulf of Oman,
Northern Arabian Sea, Gulf of Aden and Bab
El Mandeb regions may be at increased risk of
maritime attack.

Terrorism
Terrorist attacks are very likely in Bahrain. 
You should always maintain a high level of
security awareness as indiscriminate attacks
against civilian targets and Western interests 
– including crowded places frequented by 
foreigners such as international hotels,
restaurants and bars, beaches, shopping 
centres as well as energy sector facilities, 
residential compounds, mosques, military, oil,
transport and aviation interests – cannot be
ruled out.

You should also be vigilant around significant
high-profile occasions and events, particularly
in public places. Always report anything 
suspicious to the local authorities.

Visit: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reduce-
your-risk-from-terrorism-while-abroad to
find out how to minimise your risk and what
to do in the event of a terrorist attack.

[Source – FCO Foreign Travel Advice: Bahrain,
gov.uk]
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Health

You should visit your GP or health provider a
minimum of eight weeks prior to travelling to
Bahrain, to assess any health risks specific to
you or the country itself, and to allow time for
any necessary vaccinations.

For information and advice about any risks,
visit the Bahrain-specific pages of the 
TravelHealthPro website at: https://travel
healthpro.org.uk/country/20/bahrain. You
can also receive useful information, advice
and guidance from the NHS via the 
FitForTravel website at: https://www.fitfor
travel.nhs.uk/destinations and the NHS
Choices website at: https://www.nhs.uk/
using-the-nhs/healthcare-abroad/.

Some medicines prescribed or purchased 
in the UK can be of an alternative legal status
and regulations surrounding their usage may
vary in other countries. If it is necessary for
you to travel with either prescription or 
over-the-counter medication you should
consult the National Travel Health Network
and Centre (NaTHNaC) or TravelHealthPro at:
https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/factsheet/43/
medicines-abroad.

For further information on the legal status of
a specific medicine, you should contact the
Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain in 
London, at: https://www.mofa.gov.bh/
Default.aspx?tabid=3256&language=en-US
before you travel.

You will be charged for emergency medical
treatment in Bahrain, so you should ensure
you have adequate travel health insurance
and funding to cover the cost abroad and
possible repatriation.

If you need emergency healthcare you can
visit a hospital’s emergency room or attend a
walk-in clinic. If needed, dial 999 and ask for
an ambulance, and contact your insurance
company promptly if you are referred to a
medical facility for treatment.

FCO foreign travel advice
If you are travelling to Bahrain for business,
the Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO)
website has travel advice to help you prepare
for your visit overseas and to stay safe and 
secure while you are there.

For up-to-the-minute advice please visit the
foreign travel pages on the gov.uk website:
https://www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-advice/
bahrain.

Travel insurance
Make sure you have comprehensive travel
and medical insurance before you travel, as
well as accessible funds to cover the cost of
any medical treatment abroad and repatriation.

[Source – FCO Foreign Travel Advice: Bahrain,
gov.uk]



BAHRAIn

There are numerous opportunities for UK 
businesses across many sectors in Bahrain’s 
developed market. 

Oil Industry Nodding Donkey Well Pumps
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Sector-specific opportunities

Opportunities in Bahrain

There are numerous opportunities for UK
businesses across many sectors in Bahrain’s
developed market.

Contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) trade specialists to find local 
representatives for your products via:
https://www.gov.uk/overseas-customers-
export-opportunities.

From its worldwide network, DIT can provide
international export sales leads. Find export
opportunities in Bahrain at: https://www.
great.gov.uk/export-opportunities/.

For more information about opportunities
and advice on doing business with Bahrain 
contact DIT at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

Do not forget to check that your goods meet
legal requirements for export, at the UK 
Export Control Joint Unit (ECJU) (formerly
known as the Export Control Organisation) at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations
/export-control-organisation.

Government tenders

Public tenders in Bahrain valued at 10,000 BHD
or over can be accessed on the Bahraini 
Government’s Tender Board, at: http://www.
tenderboard.gov.bh/. However, you should 

be aware of the need to employ a quota of
Bahrainis to comply with Bahrainisation rules
(which aim to improve local employment
prospects and reduce reliance on imported
labour).

Partnering with a Bahraini firm may improve
your chance of success if applying for a 
government tender. Check with the DIT team
in Manama at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us for assistance and 
information about third-party advisers if you 
decide to have your tender bids submitted by 
a domestic company or consultant.

[Source – FCO Overseas Business Risk, Government
of Bahrain, DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

Education sector

The British schooling system is considered 
to be the benchmark in Bahrain, both at 
secondary and higher education levels. 
Demand for UK degrees is high, with the 
UK being the preferred choice for Bahraini
students pursuing higher education abroad.

There are opportunities for co-operation in
the education sector, including:

• programme development within 
healthcare, social sciences, energy, 
technology and creative sectors

• higher education partnerships

• vocational education and training

• financial services qualifications, including 
Islamic finance

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App55



• training and continuing professional 
development (CPD) for staff

• special educational needs

• collaborative research with universities

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain education
sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

Financial and professional services sector

Bahrain is regarded as the best regulated 
financial services centre in the Middle East. 
It is an attractive location to set up operations
and has a leading edge in the region in the 
Islamic finance and insurance sectors.

There are more than 400 licenced financial
institutions in Bahrain. Although wholesale
banking, insurance and funds/asset 
management are the main services provided
by these institutions, a full range of financial
services are covered. Bahrain is already 
home to a number of British financial and 
professional services firms.

Financial and professional services are 
currently the fastest growing sector in
Bahrain’s economy. The banking and financial
sector is one of the most important sectors in
Bahrain’s economy accounting for over 27%
of GDP in 2018, which increased from 16.5%
in 2016.

Growth within the industry has led to Bahrain
becoming a regional banking hub, and 

therefore attracting foreign companies, 
including UK companies, to do business 
with Bahrain. This is due to the open market
economy, stable macro-economic and fiscal
policies, a credible regulatory framework, 
as well as the qualified, local workforce.

There are opportunities for providers of:

• Islamic finance

• legal services

• infrastructure finance

• insurance and reinsurance (both 
conventional and Islamic)

• education, training and qualifications

• asset management

• private banking

• capital markets

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain financial and
professional services sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk, EDB Bahrain, Bahrain.bh]

Healthcare sector

A number of hospitals are undergoing 
modernisation with UK products held in high
regard. Opportunities for UK companies 
include:

• pharmaceuticals
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As architects we have a social responsibility to design 
buildings that positively effect people’s life’s.
Mas Architecture Int
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• medical equipment

• facilities management

• training courses for staff

• establishing nursing homes

• information and communications 
technology (ICT)

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain healthcare
sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

Infrastructure sector

The majority of the US $10 billion GCC 
Development Programme fund has been 
allocated towards infrastructure development.

Infrastructure projects include:

• school, hospital and social housing
construction

• road network development

• GCC rail network and other land 
transportation projects (e.g. expanding bus 
network and a Light Rail Rapid Transit 
scheme)

• Bahrain International Airport expansion

• Bahrain Petroleum Company (BAPCO) oil 
refinery expansion

• aluminium downstream manufacturing

Opportunities include:

• transport and engineering consultancy

• provision of specific products or materials

• project and programme management

• operation and maintenance

• technical road knowledge and expertise 
relating to bridge engineering, road safety, 
training and intelligent transport systems 
(ITS)

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain infrastructure
sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

Information and communications 
technology (ICT) sector

Bahrain plays host for a number of IT 
companies, ranging from areas including:

• IT services

• IT distribution

• IT consultancy

• data management systems

• software developers

• customer support centres

The MENA ranks Bahrain 1st in the region for
the readiness of its ICT services, due to them
being the most competitive and affordable.

Bahrain is also the first country in the region 
to deregulate its telecommunications market
fully and it hopes to become the first GCC
economy to adopt a cloud-first policy, with
the Bahraini Government committed to 
creating new business opportunities and 
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allowing a more proactive approach to data
management, through the transition to the
cloud. 

ICT companies wanting to do business with
Bahrain can benefit from the country’s robust
ICT infrastructure, powerful internet 
connectivity systems and a business-friendly
regulatory environment, as well as a large
availability of skilled workers and many 
options in terms of setting up your office.

Within Bahrain, and also within the Middle
East as a regional market, there are ICT 
opportunities within the following sectors:

• cloud (data centre and software as a service)

• cybersecurity

• digital content

• e-commerce

• business services

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain information
and communications technology (ICT) 
sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk, EDB Bahrain]

Logistics sector

Bahrain has a user-friendly environment, and
due to its location between the east and west
time zones, multinational corporations are 
increasingly recognising Bahrain as a country
to set up business in, and also seeing the
country as a gateway into other countries
within the Middle East. Through the King Fahd
Causeway, there is only a 30 minute drive
time to Saudi Arabia, with 75% of its economy
reachable through transportation from
Bahrain.

Bahrain’s location also means that there is an
increased need for the Bahrain International
Airport and the Khalifa Bin Salman Port, which
has the fastest clearance time of all the GCC
countries.

Through this, Bahrain has become a highly 
integrated logistics hub.

Bahrain Logistics Zone (BLZ)
The Bahrain Logistics Zone is situated close
to the Khalifa Bin Salman Port, and ensures
companies wishing to do business in tailor
made services get help with their every need.
BLZ, for many businesses, is the ideal location
within Bahrain, as it is the most cost-effective
location within the Northern Gulf.

The main benefits include:

• 100% foreign company ownership

• multimodal access by land, sea and air

• flexible plot options

• purpose-built

• dedicated 24-hour customs services

• basic services such as facilities 
management and special waste 
management

Contact the DIT team in Bahrain at: 
DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk for more information
on opportunities in the Bahrain logistics 
sector.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk, EDB Bahrain, Bahrain.bh]



BAHRAIn

The Kingdom of Bahrain does permit 100% 
foreign ownership of businesses in most sectors,
although you should check whether some sector
and entity-specific restrictions apply.  

Arad Fort on Muharraq Island in Bahrain
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Preparing to export

Consultation and bespoke research

There is a range of online information for 
exporters including advice and guidance 
on how to thoroughly research overseas
markets. Visit: https://www.great.gov.uk/
for more information.

Researching the market
You should make regular visits to Bahrain as
well as making contact with others in your 
industry/sector. This will enable you to access
the most up-to-date advice and information,
and may lead to new insights or at the very
least form the foundation for further research.

Visit: https://www.great.gov.uk for information
and guidance on how to develop your 
marketing strategy, competitor and SWOT
analyses and customer/market segmentation.
The IOE&IT can also offer help with this. Visit:
https://www.export.org.uk/.

You will need to determine whether there is 
a market for your product or service, if your
pricing is competitive, whether you might
need to change your product packaging 
or marketing, and whether to adapt your
business model.

The questions listed here should help to
focus your thoughts. Your answers to them
will highlight areas for further research and
also suggest a way forward that is right for
your company. You may then want to use
this as a basis for developing a formal 
strategy, although this may not be necessary
or appropriate for all companies:

Your aims:

• Do you wish to buy from Bahrain, sell to 
Bahrain or both?

• Do you wish to establish your own 
company presence in Bahrain, or 
consider for example direct sales, licensing
or franchising?

• Do you need to be involved in Bahrain at 
all?

• Do you see Bahrain as part of a wider 
plan including e.g. other GCC markets, 
now or in the future?

Your company:

• Can you carry out a detailed SWOT 
analysis of your company?

• Are your competitors already in Bahrain? 
If so, what are they doing?

• Can you carry out a detailed SWOT 
analysis of your competitors?

• What are the Unique Selling Points (USPs)
of your product or service?

• Do you know if there is a market for your 
product or service in Bahrain?

• Do you know if you can be competitive 
in Bahrain?

• Do you have the time and resources 
to handle e.g. the demands of 
communication, travel, product delivery 
and after-sales service?
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Your knowledge:

• Do you know how to secure payment for
your products or service?

• Do you know how to locate and screen 
potential partners, agents or distributors?

• Have you carried out any Bahrain-specific
customer segmentation, and do you 
know how to best reach potential 
customers in-market?

It is unlikely that you will have the answers to
all these questions at the outset and these
‘knowledge gaps’ could form the basis for
further research and investigation. Some of
these questions will require quantitative 
research in your sector, while others involve
more contextual and cultural considerations.

Talking to other people in your industry and
regularly visiting Bahrain will give you access
to the most current advice and such experience
can often lead to new insights and form the
basis for further research. 

Export plan
Following your initial research, you will need
to create an export plan, identifying your best
route to market. Guidance on developing an
export plan, including marketing strategy,
customer segmentation, competitor and
SWOT analyses, etc. is available on the
https://www.great.gov.uk/advice/create-an-
export-plan/how-to-create-an-export-plan/
site, and also on the Institute of Export’s Open
to Export site at: https://opentoexport.com/
info/export-action-plan/.

One option to test how viable your product
or service could be in the Bahrain market
would be to attend trade shows held in
Bahrain each year. The Department for 

International Trade (DIT) provides funding for
eligible businesses in the form of grants to
enable them to attend trade shows overseas
via the Tradeshow Access Programme.

The funding helps your business to gather
market knowledge, gain experience in 
attending and getting the most from overseas
trade shows, and to receive advice and 
support from trade experts. Visit: https://www.
gov.uk/guidance/tradeshow-access-
programme for more information.

To discover future events and trade missions
in Bahrain, visit the DIT events portal at:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/ehome/
index.php?eventid=200183029&.

For company launches and events held at
British Embassy and Consulate locations,
contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) in Bahrain at: https://www.gov.uk/
world/organisations/department-for-
international-trade-bahrain#contact-us.

[Source – DIT, gov.uk]

Start-up considerations

Setting up a company or office in Bahrain
The Kingdom of Bahrain does permit 100%
foreign ownership of businesses in most 
sectors, although you should check whether
some sector and entity-specific restrictions
apply. 

If you are setting up in Bahrain, you will need
to register with the Bahrain Investors Centre
(BIC) in Manama, to obtain official Commer-
cial Registration (CR). You will need to renew
your CR on an annual basis. See: http://www.
bfharbour.com/news/bahrain-investors-
center-open.

www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk65
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You are advised to speak to local lawyers and
accountants to check which options best suit
your business.

A list of English-speaking lawyers in Bahrain is
available at: https://www.gov.uk/government
/publications/bahrain-list-of-lawyers, or you
can speak to the DIT team in Bahrain at:
http://www.gov.uk/world/organisations/ 
department-for-international-trade-bahrain
#contact-us for assistance in locating 
potential lawyers and accountants.

Distributorship agreement
You can export directly to Bahrain, but it can
be easier to work with a Bahraini partner or
advisor, who will be more familiar with the
business environment and will be able to:

• keep in contact with customers

• seek new business

• get information on the latest market 
trends

You should research a number of potential
agents or distributors and visit the market a
number of times to establish a personal 
relationship before choosing one. Look at
their local reputation, marketing ability and
resources, and be aware of agents who are
promoting products or services which are the
same or similar to yours.

The Department for International Trade (DIT)
team in Bahrain at: http://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us can assist you in
locating and meeting potential agents and
distributors for your products in Bahrain.  

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]

As an alternative to setting up an office in
Bahrain, you may consider direct exports and
sales, licensing or franchising for some 
products and services.

Direct exports and sales
Direct export means supplying your products
or services directly to the customer and 
involves you taking care of the logistics of
marketing, selling, sending overseas and 
getting paid. This could be an option if you
are selling online or responding to enquiries
from potential Bahrain purchasers.

Further information on selling directly 
overseas can be found at: https://www.
great.gov.uk/advice/define-route-to-
market/sell-overseas-directly/.

Online selling
The Department for International Trade (DIT)
can help you export your goods to Bahrain
through the E-Exporting Programme. Find
out more at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
e-exporting.

DIT has also negotiated listings at better-
than-commercial rates. See online 
marketplaces in Bahrain at: https://www.
great.gov.uk/selling-online-overseas/.

Licensing or franchising
Franchising is in demand in Bahrain, 
particularly in the restaurant, fast food and
retail sectors, and licensing a product or 
service to be sold in Bahrain is a cheap way to
enter the market as there are no set-up costs
apart from the cost of a legal agreement.

However, you should undertake due 
diligence on licensees to ensure your 
Intellectual Property (IP) rights are fully 
protected. For further information about 
licensing IP, visit: https://www.gov.uk/
guidance/licensing-intellectual-property.



For further information on franchising in
Bahrain, contact the Middle East and North
Africa Franchise Association (MENAFA) at:
https://www.linkedin.com/company/
menafa---middleeast-north-africa-franchise-
associates and see the international section
of the British Franchise Association website at:
http://www.thebfa.org/international.

Further information about various start-up
options in Bahrain is available at: https://
www.startupoverseas.co.uk/starting-a-
business-in-bahrain/company-formation.html.

Consumer protection
If you are selling to consumers (rather than
businesses) you should ensure you comply
with relevant consumer protection laws,
which guarantee consumer rights when 
buying goods and services.

Professional indemnity insurance
You may require professional indemnity 
insurance if you provide a service and need 
to protect yourself against negligence claims
from clients or third parties in Bahrain. 

See: https://www.abi.org.uk/products-and-
issues/choosing-the-right-insurance/business-
insurance/liability-insurance/professional-
indemnity-insurance/ for further information,
or alternatively contact the DIT team in
Bahrain at: http://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us for contacts of
local insurers or specialist brokers.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk]
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Financial considerations

Getting finance to fulfil an export contract
Globally, Bahrain ranks 94th out of 190
economies for Ease of Getting Credit, in the
World Bank’s ‘Doing Business’ report 2020.
See: http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/data/
exploreeconomies/bahrain#DB_gc.

For UK companies that wish to sell products
and services to Bahrain, there are schemes
available to simplify the growth of your 
business and to fulfil an export contract. 

Contact your bank or financial adviser 
for more information about any current
schemes. Alternatively, the DIT team in
Bahrain at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us can help you find 
a financial adviser in Bahrain.

Your contract should specify the terms for
payment, and use secure terms of payment in
Bahrain through a letter of credit, cash, or
partial payment in advance.

Be aware that you should only use open 
account payment terms (delivery of goods 
or services before payment) once you have
an established trading relationship. See the
Institute of Export’s guide to payment terms,
at: https://www.export.org.uk/page/Methods
_of_Payment for advice and further 
information.

Payment risks
UK Export Finance (UKEF) helps UK companies
to get paid by insuring against buyer default.
You may have difficulty accessing foreign 
exchange. Be confident you will get paid for
your export contract. 

Speak to one of UKEF’s export finance advisers
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications
/find-an-export-finance-manager for free and
impartial advice on your insurance options, 
or contact one of UKEF’s approved export 
insurance brokers at:https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications /uk-export-finance-
insurance-list-of-approved -brokers/export-
insurance-approved-brokers.

Currency risks when exporting to Bahrain
In order to fix your price, it is essential to fix
your exchange rate. Before signing any 
contract, you need to consider whether the
best option for you is to agree terms in Pounds
Sterling (GBP) or Bahraini Dinar (BHD). It may
also be advisable to seek expert financial 
advice on exchange rates (FX).

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain,
gov.uk, UKEF]



BAHRAIn

Companies operating in Bahrain are required to
follow international accounting and corporate
governance standards. 
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So are we.

Bahrain has a long and rich history in a range of 

and manufacturing and international trade. Its 
proximity to the Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia 
and its ties with the rest of the GCC make Bahrain 
an exciting place in which to invest. 

Our lawyers have a deep understanding of Bahrain’s 
business, legal and regulatory system making 

international companies, and public entities.

Licensed in our name to appear on behalf of our 

shop’ for your legal requirements. 

if you are doing business in Bahrain. 

DOING BUSINESS IN 
BAHRAIN

FOUTOUN HAJJAR

f.hajjar@tamimi.com
+973 17 108 919
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How to do business with Bahrain

Legal considerations

Companies operating in Bahrain are required
to follow international accounting and 
corporate governance standards.

Bahrain hosts the Bahrain Chamber of 
Dispute Resolution in association with the
American Arbitration Association (BCDR-
AAA), providing commercial and governmental
users contracting in the Gulf and beyond with
solutions for resolution of economic, financial
and investment disputes. See: https://www.
bcdr-aaa.org/.

The DIT team in Bahrain at: https://www.
gov.uk/world/organisations/department-for-
international-trade-bahrain#contact-us can
help you find tax and legal advisers before
entering into agreements in Bahrain.

Standards and technical regulations
Your product or service will need to conform
to the legal requirements set out in the 
relevant Bahraini standard. All suppliers and
manufacturers have an obligation to ensure
products are safe and meet relevant safety
standards, have clear instructions for proper
use and include warnings against possible
misuse.

Companies need to check exact requirements
for their products with the Ministry of Industry
and Commerce (MOIC) at: http://www.moic.
gov.bh/en/Pages/default.aspx.

Other government organisations include:

• Ministry of Health for medical devices 
and medicines regulation (https://www. 
moh.gov.bh/)

• Ministry of Works, Municipalities Affairs 
and Urban Planning for plants and seeds 
(https://www.mun.gov.bh/portal/
indexEn.jsp)

• Ministry of Interior for security equipment
(http://www.interior.gov.bh/en/)

Controlled goods export licences
Any goods, software, technical information
and technology which are on the UK Strategic
Export Control Lists will require a licence for
Bahrain. See: https://www.gov.uk/government
/publications/uk-strategic-export-control-
lists-the-consolidated-list-of-strategic-military
-and-dual-use-items-that-require-export-
authorisation for details of the lists.

There are a number of open general export
licences (OGELs) which are available for 
exporting military and certain dual-use 
controlled items to Bahrain – these have a
straightforward registration process. Visit:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections
/open-general-export-licences-ogels for 
further details of OGELs.

If you cannot use an Open Licence you 
will have to apply for a Standard Licence. 
See: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/export-
controls-military-goods-software-and-
technology. You should also check if you
need an Export Licence, at: https://www.
ecochecker.trade.gov.uk/spirefox5live/fox/
spire/OGEL_GOODS_CHECKER_LANDING
_PAGE/new and apply via SPIRE: https://
www.spire.trade.gov.uk/spire/fox/espire/
LOGIN/login.

Some additional products, including consumer
items, may require further certification or 
licensing before they can be exported to
Bahrain. See the UK Government’s guidance
on export licences and special rules at: 
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https://www.gov.uk/starting-to-export/
licences.

Import restrictions
The importing of certain goods into Bahrain 
is prohibited. More details of these can be
found on the Bahrain Government’s Customs
Affairs site at: http://www.bahraincustoms.
gov.bh/page.php?SID=WTBkR2JscFVNRE-
ZOUTFwMFVGUlpiV015TURsTmVrVTk%253D.

Product liability insurance
Product liability insurance covers the cost of
compensation for anyone injured by a faulty
product. If you design, manufacture or supply
a physical product you should therefore 
consider taking out product liability insurance. 

See: https://www.abi.org.uk/products-and-
issues/choosing-the-right-insurance/business
-insurance/liability-insurance/product-liability
-insurance/ for further information, or 
alternatively, contact the DIT team in Bahrain
at: http://www.gov.uk/world/organisations
/department-for-international-trade-bahrain
#contact-us for contacts of local insurers or
specialist brokers.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, BCDR-AAA, DIT
Trade and Investment guide: Bahrain, gov.uk]

Taxation

Double taxation agreement
The UK and Bahrain have signed a double
taxation agreement, which allows some taxes
paid in one country to be deducted in the
other, so should prevent any double tax liability
from UK and Bahrain authorities over the
same income. See: www.gov.uk/government
/publications/bahrain-tax-treaties.

With the lowest corporate and personal taxes
in the GCC, Bahrain has very few indirect
taxes and no:

• personal income tax

• wealth tax on capital gains

• withholding tax

Value added tax (VAT)
Provided you get and keep evidence of your
export, and comply with all other laws, you
can zero-rate the sale of your goods to
Bahrain. You will need to ensure the goods
are exported, and provide evidence within
three months from the time of sale.

Further information on VAT in non-EU 
markets and zero-rating conditions is available
at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/vat-exports-
dispatches-and-supplying-goods-abroad.

Excise duty
You will need to pay excise duty on any 
alcohol, alcohol fuel, tobacco or other excise
-equivalent products you send to Bahrain.

You can find out more about excise duty and
duty drawback outside the EU at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/excise
-notice-207-excise-duty-drawback/excise-
notice-207-excise-duty-drawback.

The DIT team in Bahrain at: https://www.gov.
uk/world/organisations/department-for-
international-trade-bahrain#contact-us can
help you find tax advisers before entering into
agreements in Bahrain.

More information on GST in non-EU markets
can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance
/vat-exports-dispatches-and-supplying-
goods-abroad.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, DIT Trade and 
Investment guide: Bahrain, gov.uk]

Customs and documentation

If you wish to export goods into Bahrain for
sale or consumption you will need to obtain
a General Licence from the Customs Affairs
Directorate of the Ministry of Interior, at:



http://www.bahraincustoms.gov.bh/.

The GCC’s Common Customs Law sets the
framework for the import regulations of all
GCC countries. However, each member 
state administers its own list of prohibited, 
restricted and exempted products. If you
want to re-export within the other GCC states
you will need to refer to their individual lists
for details. See: http://www.bahraincustoms.
gov.bh/uploads/files/gcc_customs_laws.pdf
for further information about the GCC’s 
Common Customs Law.

A certificate of origin is required for all 
exports to clear customs, and you need to 
be aware that goods manufactured in Israel
cannot be imported into Bahrain.

More detailed information on export and 
import requirements, procedures and 
restrictions can be found on the Bahrain 
Customs website at: http://www.bahrain
customs.gov.bh/page.php?SID=WTBkR2JscF
VNREpOYVZwMFVGUlpiV015TURsT1ZHYzk%
253D.

Normally, customs duties are 5% for imported
goods, and higher for alcohol and tobacco.
Many food and medical items are exempt
from customs duty, although may require
special licensing.

Exemptions include:

• goods for re-export

• capital goods

• raw materials for manufacturing imports 
required for development projects

The EU’s Market Access Database (MADB) at:
http://madb.europa.eu/madb/indexPubli.htm
provides information on import conditions
into Bahrain, including:

• import tariffs

• customs clearance formalities and 
documentation

• sanitary (animal-related) and 
phytosanitary (plant-related) restrictions

Complying with HMRC regulations to 
export
To export your goods to Bahrain you must
make export declarations to HMRC through
the National Export System (NES). Visit:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/export-
declarations-and-the-national-export-system
-export-procedures for further details.

You must classify your goods as part of the
declaration, including a commodity code 
and a customs procedure code (CPC). 
Commodity codes and other details applying
to exports in the UK Trade Tariff can be found
at: https://www.gov.uk/trade-tariff.

Contact the HMRC Tariff Classification Serv-
ice at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/finding-
commodity-codes-for-imports-or-exports#li
st-of-useful-contacts for more help.

The EU’s Market Access Database (MADB)
also has details about import tariffs. Visit:
http://madb.europa.eu/madb/indexPubli.htm.

You must declare any goods that you take
with you in your luggage to sell outside the
EU. See: https://www.gov.uk/take-goods-sell-
abroad for further information.

Temporary export of goods
You can use an ATA (Admission Temporaire
/Temporary Admission) Carnet to simplify the
customs procedures needed to temporarily
take any goods on the UK export controls lists
into Bahrain, such as commercial samples or
goods for:

• demonstration

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App75
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• exhibition

• use in repair or maintenance

Visit: https://www.gov.uk/taking-goods-out-
uk-temporarily for further information.

You can check at: https://www.ecochecker.
trade.gov.uk/spirefox5live/fox/spire/OGEL_G
OODS_CHECKER_LANDING_PAGE/new
whether you can use an open general export
licence (OGEL) for your temporary export. If
not, you will need to apply for a temporary
export licence. You will need a permanent
export licence if the goods are not being 
returned. To apply for a temporary export
licence, use the SPIRE system at: https://
www.spire.trade.gov.uk/spire/fox/espire/LOGI
N/login.

Documentation
Product-specific documentation is usually 
required for imports of:

• drugs and medicines

• food products

• live animals

• meat, poultry, animal products and 
bi-products

Special permits may also be required for
some further products, for example 
special-breed horses, armaments, and 
insecticides. Contact Bahrain Customs at:
http://www.customs.gov.bh/ if you have any 
documentation enquiries.

More details about these and other export
documents you need to move goods 
overseas can be found at the Institute of 
Export & International Trade site at: https://
www.export.org.uk/page/Key_Exporting_
Terms.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, DIT Trade and 
Investment guide: Bahrain, Official Journal of the
European Union, European Commission, HMRC, 
Institute of Export & International Trade, gov.uk]

Labelling regulations
GCC countries enforce common labelling
standards for all imported goods, and Bahraini
law requires all labelling and packaging to be
in Arabic or in Arabic and English.

Food labels should include product and
brand names, as well as production and 
expiration dates and the country of origin 
together with the name and address of the
manufacturer. They should also include the
net weight and a list of ingredients. All fats
and oils must be identified on labels, and pork
products and those containing pork or pork
lard must be clearly labelled. 

Contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) team in Bahrain at: https://www.
gov.uk/world/organisations/department-for-
international-trade-bahrain#contact-us for
further detailed information and advice on 
labelling requirements.

You may choose to work with a Bahrain 
customs agent. Contact the DIT team in
Bahrain at: https://www.gov.uk/world/
organisations/department-for-international-
trade-bahrain#contact-us for further advice
and lists of agents.

[Source – Government of Bahrain, DIT Trade and 
Investment guide: Bahrain, gov.uk]

Shipping your goods

You can use a freight forwarder to move your
goods if you are not knowledgeable about
international shipping procedures. A freight
forwarder will have vast expertise and familiarity
with local documentation requirements, 
regulations, transportation costs and banking
practices in Bahrain.





The British International Freight Association
(BIFA) at: http://www.bifa.org/home and the
Freight Transport Association (FTA) at:
https://fta.co.uk/ can assist in locating freight
forwarders to transport your goods to
Bahrain.

Posting goods
For information about sending goods by post
to Bahrain visit Royal Mail at: https://www.
royalmail.com/bahrain.

[Source – Royal Mail]

Shipping restricted, banned and dangerous
goods
Certain goods are classed as restricted or
dangerous. If you wish to import any of these
goods into Bahrain, they are subject to spe-
cial rules. For more information visit:
https://www.gov.uk/shipping-dangerous-
goods/what-are-dangerous-goods.

You can employ a local agent who will have
knowledge of the latest import licensing 
requirements. For information and assistance
contact the Department for International
Trade (DIT) team in Bahrain at: https://www.
gov.uk/world/organisations/department-for-
international-trade-bahrain#contact-us.

Terms of delivery
You should have a clear written contract in all
international commercial transactions, to
minimise any risk of misunderstanding.

Incoterms are a series of widely used 
commercial terms for international trade in
goods, which clarify for example:

• where the goods will be delivered

• who arranges transport

• who handles customs procedures

• who is responsible for insuring the goods,
and who pays for insurance

• who pays any duties and taxes

Incoterms do not apply to the delivery of
services. Contracts for the international 
delivery of services should include a Service
Level Agreement (SLA), focusing on desired 
outcomes such as what the service should
achieve.

The International Chamber of Commerce
(ICC) publishes Incoterm rules, at: https://
iccwbo.org/resources-for-business/
incoterms-rules, and the UK Government 
has further general advice and details about
Incoterms at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/
international-trade-paperwork-the-basics
#international-trade-contracts-and-
incoterms.

UK Export Finance
The UK Government’s credit agency (UKEF),
wins export contracts by providing attractive
financing terms to their buyers. They can help
you:

• fulfil orders by supporting working capital
loans

• get paid by insuring against buyer default

You can find out more about UKEF’s services
and products at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/collections/uk-export-finance-
products-and-services.

For new business enquiries, email UKEF at:
customer.service@ukexportfinance.gov.uk or
telephone: 020 7271 8010 between 9am and
5pm.

For up-to-date country-specific information
on the support available see UKEF’s cover
policy and indicators for Bahrain at:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/country-cover-
policy-and-indicators#bahrain.

[Source – ICC, DIT, UKEF, gov.uk]
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BAHRAIn

Islam is the national culture and, together with
local traditions, customs, laws and religions,
should be respected. 

Al Fateh Mosque in Bahrain
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In recent decades, Bahrain’s business 
landscape has careened ahead at rapid 
speed. In part, this is due to the fact it is one 
of the freest economies in the region and it 
is also due to its distinctly liberal attitude to 
foreign investment. The result is a business 
stage peppered with high-performing, 
internationally renowned brands, not to 
mention a wide variety of new startups and 
individual entrepreneurs. Over time, it’s 
become one of the most exciting business 
environments in the Middle East, with 
companies from all over the world looking  
to commence operations there. 

In spite of this unlocked potential, the 
prospect of launching a business in new and 
unknown territory can be daunting. Ensuring 
you have the right people on your side can 
be a move that elevates your business on a 
grand scale. Enter PRIME, a Bahrain-based, 
one-stop consultancy focused on



of its kind in the country to specialise in both 
the international and domestic markets – 

What sets PRIME apart from the competition 
is its unrivalled knowledge of the complex 
workings of local business, coupled with a 
multi-national team who provide Western-
level service. Established in 2005, the small, 

matched when it comes to quality of advice 
and helping clients navigate the convoluted 
commercial laws and regulations of Bahrain. 
Their knowledge, experience and 

invaluable contacts mean they can fast-track 
applications and requests while ensuring 
the quality of service is second-to-none – an 
integral pillar of the company’s ethos. PRIME 

needs and are experts in customising 
solutions to suit. 

Nevertheless, it’s often a similar set of 
requirements that leads a company to 
engage the expertise of PRIME. The starting 
point for all new businesses in Bahrain is 
company registration. PRIME advises on 
the best company type to register and 

conduct your business. They also provide 

complete the process. Getting a working 
team in place follows and PRIME assists with 
processing work visas and resident permits 
to allow your employees to work and reside 
in Bahrain. PRIME’s highly experienced visa 
processing team ensure your company 
adheres to rules set by the local labour 
governing body – the Labour Market 
Regulatory Authority – keeping you updated 
with developments at all times. Then, there 
are a range of additional business essentials 

services including monthly bookkeeping 
and payroll processing, plus an intellectual 
property department that protects your 
brand in Bahrain and worldwide.   

As trusted, industry-leading partners, 
PRIME’s goal is to work alongside clients  
and make the transition into doing business 

 
as possible.

What sets PRIME 
 apart 

from the competition 
is its unrivalled 
knowledge of the 
complex workings of 
local business.



Business etiquette, language and culture

Religion

Although Bahrain is the most liberal of the
GCC states and is tolerant of all faiths, many
Bahrainis are conservative. Islam is the 
national culture and, together with local 
traditions, customs, laws and religions, should
be respected. You should dress conservatively
in public places, particularly religious sites. Be
aware of your actions to ensure that they do
not offend, particularly during the holy month
of Ramadan and Shia religious festivals.

Official holidays in Bahrain are generally the
same as those observed in most Muslim
countries, including: Eid al-Fitr (end of 
Ramadan), Eid al-Adha (Festival of Sacrifice)
and the Prophet Mohammed’s birthday.

In 2020, the holy month of Ramadan is 
expected to start on 24th April and finish on
23rd May. See the UK Government’s guidance
on travelling during Ramadan at: https://
www.gov.uk/guidance/travelling-during-
ramadan. Bahrainis observe some additional
religious anniversaries that may not be 
celebrated in other Gulf countries.

Language

Arabic is the official language of Bahrain, 
although English is widely spoken throughout
the country and it is common for written 
correspondence to be in English. However,
Arabic is often preferred within government.
Persian is also fairly common, particularly in
the home, and Urdu, Hindi and Philippine
Tagalog are also spoken among expatriate
communities.

Interpreters
It helps to have a working knowledge of Arabic.
If not, you can consider hiring a professional
interpreter for your meetings. Your interpreter

is one of your key assets, so needs to be 
chosen carefully.

It is recommended that you use a professional
interpreter for negotiations and avoid using
electronic translation for your correspondence.
It is a good idea for initial written approaches
to Bahraini companies to be in Arabic as well
as English, and your literature and business
cards should be translated too – it is 
recommended that you have one side 
of your business card printed in Arabic.

Lists of local interpreters and translators can
be found at: https://www.gov.uk/government
/publications/bahrain-list-of-translators-and-
interpreters, or from DIT at the British 
Embassy Manama.

Dress 

Western-style clothing is common, and dress
rules for women are more relaxed than in
some other parts of the region. However, in
more conservative and rural areas women
still wear a hijab and a long cloak (abayah).
When in Bahrain you should dress modestly
in public – women should wear clothes that
cover their knees and shoulders, such as a
long sleeved blouse, a long skirt/dress or
trousers, and men can wear traditional suit
trousers, although it may be too warm for a
jacket as well.

Greetings 

Bahrainis are particularly hospitable and
friendly, and will greet you with enthusiasm.
Handshakes are the norm, although some
women may not be comfortable with this –
men should wait to see if a woman extends
her hand first.

The customary greeting is “As-salaam
alaykum," (peace be upon you) to which the
reply is "Wa alaykum as-salaam,” (and upon

www.Bahrain.DoingBusinessGuide.co.uk83
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you be peace). When entering a meeting,
general introductions will begin with a 
handshake. You should greet each of your
Bahraini counterparts individually.

When you are in Bahrain, especially on 
business, traditional Bahraini coffee may be
offered to you in offices and at Arabs’ homes.
Coffee is an important part of social life and
offering coffee as a gesture of welcome is
symbolic of hospitality. Bahraini coffee is
often flavoured with cardamom or saffron.

Hours of business

The working week traditionally starts on 
Sunday and ends on Thursday. Friday and
Saturday are the official days of rest, although
in some cases, people – including many
non-government offices – may work on 
Saturday.

Meetings

You will need introductions to develop your
business in this market. You must take time to
get to know your contacts through face-to-
face meetings.

As in other countries, more than anything it 
is important to target the right person in 
your contacts, the decision-maker. It is also 
preferable to establish new business contacts
via an introduction by mutual contact, 
exhibitions, networking receptions or through
the Embassy in the form of an Overseas 
Market Introduction Service (OMIS). Through
an OMIS, the Embassy in Bahrain can provide
a programme-arranging service, whereby
your company can be introduced to the most
appropriate contacts and an appointment
confirmed on your behalf.

Face-to-face meetings are preferred as
phone calls or emails are sometimes seen as 
impersonal. Appointments should be made
no more than two weeks in advance and
confirmed a few days before the actual
meeting as priorities may change. It is useful
to allocate extra time in case the meeting
should go on longer or start later than 
anticipated. Morning and early evenings are
the most usual times for meetings, but make
sure you avoid prayer times when scheduling.

The pace of life is slower in the Gulf, and
punctuality is not a particularly high priority.
However, you should try to be punctual to
create a good impression. During meetings
you should:

• exchange business cards immediately 
after introductions, presenting with both 
hands or with the right

• do not offer anything with your left hand, 
nor receive anything with your left hand

• keep cards on the table, do not put them 
away immediately

It is advised that you consult a lawyer prior to
signing an agreement in Bahrain. Bahrainis
prefer to do business with people they know
and trust. Personal contact with potential and
existing partners/clients and regular visits to
Bahrain are of the utmost importance and it is
natural for a business relationship to be built
over time.

Remember, relationships are most important.
You should show long-term commitment to
Bahrain and your Bahraini contacts – keep in
touch between contracts or projects.

[Source – DIT Trade and Investment guide: 
Bahrain, gov.uk]



> Clear, consistent content is vital to
making your business understood
overseas. So don't leave it to chance.

> Well-known companies we already work 
with include: Serco, Experian, Intertek, IKEA 
and Caterpillar

> For a structured approach to translation, 
please read the article that follows

T: 0115 9705633  |  E: office@astls.co.uk  |  www.astlanguage.com



Buying decisions carried out in 
isolation of wider and constantly
changing sector, economic or 
social contexts are a thing of the 
past. This means that increasingly 
any product or service has to be 
supported with professional 
technical, marketing or other 
contextual content. 

As examples of this, exporters 
need their technical documentation 
to be easily assimilated, their marketing
content to be compelling, and their
website to be informative and 
memorable. Human resources 
departments on the other hand need
sensitive localisation of policies & 
procedures in line with local legislation,
corporate guidelines and house style. 

After all an international expansion
strategy or company restructuring
could easily be undermined by 
insensitive internal communication.

In non English-speaking markets, 
all of the above can be achieved by
working with a reliable and 
professional translation partner. 

So how can really good translation
help build your export success:

• clear and accurate foreign-
language branding and 
content will motivate foreign 
customers to buy from you

• consistent and harmonised 
messaging helps to convey and 
reinforce your company's values 
and ethos

• corporate and operational 
risk through poor quality 
communication and 
misunderstanding is eliminated 

• overall brand integrity and 
reputation are enhanced

If you're reading this guide, the chances are you're either a seasoned exporter, 
or you're committed to investigating new export opportunities for your business.
Whichever category you fall into, you'll have a good idea of the huge investment 
in time, effort and resources which is required for export success. 

Your priority will be to get your product or service to market, and it's a fact of life
that procurement of peripheral resources such as translation is often left to the 
last minute. In this article we'd like to demonstrate to you how building translation
into the early planning stages of your export campaigns can pay dividends.

The internet, mobile connectivity and social media mean that now more than ever
before customers, be they B2B or B2C, are buying goods and services within the
context of a connected world of instant communication.



The following components are key to
a successful translation project, and
show how AST can make the process
of internationalising outward-facing
and internal communications simpler,
more professional and more cost-
effective:

Rigorous selection of translators

AST’s ISO9001 certified and
ISO17100 compliant processes
mean that the company has 
approved sector-specialist translators
whatever the language and deadline 
requirements, with experienced
proofreaders to give the text 
precision and professionalism to 
really focus the reader’s attention.

Translation memory technology

Client-facing documents produced
periodically often contain sections
which stay the same and sections
which need updating. Similarly 
company websites and technical
data or manuals can contain identical
paragraphs and sections. Translation
Memory technology is used in this
situation to identify duplicate and
legacy text. The duplicates are
logged and reused – leading to 
reduced turnaround times and 
resulting 

cost savings – with company 
wordings for products, processes, 
titles and descriptions translated 
consistently.

Terminology management

The key words used to describe your
company’s products, services and
processes support your brand and
identity. This is equally true in your
foreign language communications. 
Unfortunately, once translated it 
is often easy to lose control of key
terms, leading to uncertainty as 
to whether the translations are 
having the desired impact. AST’s 
terminology management prevents
this. Glossaries are maintained in
multiple languages and client 
terminology is checked in each 
language by industry sector experts.
As the glossary grows it can be
reused with each new project, so
client content is always on-message
and brand integrity consistent.

So there’s really no need for you to
leave the “softer” aspects of your 
export campaign to chance. Using a
professional translation company like
AST provides a guarantee that your
international content will be clear,
consistent and effective. Whatever
the language.



> YOU NEED YOUR SALES, 
TECHNICAL AND WEBSITE CONTENT 
TO BE TRANSLATED BY EXPERTS!

> We’re recognised as a UK leader for translating high profile,
client-facing documents

> All our translators are rigorously selected so your text will be 
translated by the best people in the business

> We ensure you get premium quality translations every time, 
on time and within budget

T: 0115 9705633  |  E: office@astls.co.uk  |  www.astlanguage.com

No matter how urgent your assignment we can translate it.



BAHRAIn

Bahrain is a relatively easy place to do business.
However, there can be a number of challenges.

Skyline of Manama, Bahrain
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What are the challenges?

Challenges when doing business 
with Bahrain

Bahrain is a relatively easy place to do 
business. However, there can be a number 
of challenges, such as:

• bureaucracy within government 
agencies, especially for getting licences

• the need to employ a quota of Bahrainis 
to comply with Bahrainisation rules 
(which aim to improve local employment
prospects and reduce reliance on 
imported labour)

• government documentation in Arabic

• delays in payment

However, British goods and services are
highly regarded for quality, although price is
normally a determining factor of sale.

Bribery and corruption
Bribery is illegal. It is an offence for British
nationals or someone who is ordinarily 
resident in the UK, a body incorporated in 
the UK or a Scottish partnership, to bribe 
anywhere in the world.

The financial sector in Bahrain is regulated 
by the Central Bank of Bahrain, and has 
anti-money laundering laws in place.

In Transparency International's latest 2019
Corruption Perceptions Index (announced
January 2020), Bahrain is ranked 77th out of
180 countries (the UK ranks 12th). See: https://
www.transparency.org/country/BHR.

Visit the Business Anti-Corruption portal 
at: https://www.ganintegrity.com/portal/
country-profiles/bahrain/ and the UK 
Government’s anti-bribery policy details at:
https://www.gov.uk/anti-bribery-policy for
procedures you can establish to protect 
your company from corruption risks.

Intellectual Property (IP)
IP rights are territorial, which means that they
only give protection within the countries
where they are registered. You should 
therefore consider registering your IP rights 
(if appropriate) in all your export markets.

The Bahrain Industrial Property Directorate in
the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and
Tourism (MOIC) has created a framework of
legislation for patents, design and trademarks.
See: http://www.moic.gov.bh/en/Pages/
default.aspx for further information. Bahrain 
is also bound by the Trademarks Law of the
GCC (see: https://wipolex.wipo.int/en/
legislation/details/14730). However, there are
no specialist IP courts and there is a limited
supply of specialist local advocates.

A Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC)-wide
patent can be obtained by filing an application
with the Patent Office in Saudi Arabia. 
Certificates of Patents granted by the GCC
Patent Office secure legal protection of the
inventor’s rights in all GCC member states
(UAE, Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, Oman, Qatar and
Kuwait). For further information see the World
Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) site
at: https://wipolex.wipo.int/en/legislation/
profile/BH.

Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App91
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You should ensure that your IP rights are 
protected by contacting a local lawyer who is
specialised in Intellectual Property. A list of
potential lawyers is available at: https://www.
gov.uk/government/publications/bahrain-list-
of-lawyers.

Further information is provided on the UK
Government’s Intellectual Property page at:
https://www.gov.uk/intellectual-property-an-
overview, and at the Intellectual Property 
Office – the UK Government agency 
providing free and impartial advice on 
protecting and registering your IP in the UK
and abroad. See: https://www.gov.uk/
government/organisations/intellectual-
property-office.

Bahrain’s overall 2019 International Property
Rights Index (IPRI) score increased by 0.02 
to 6.195, placing it 6th in the Middle East and
North Africa region, and 44th (out of 125) in
the world. See: https://www.international
propertyrightsindex.org/country/bahrain.

Protective security advice
The UK Government has advice on crime and
fraud prevention in international trade, at:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/crime-and-
fraud-prevention-for-businesses-in-
international-trade.

[Source – GAN, Transparency International, FCO
Overseas Business Risk: Bahrain, DIT Trade and 
Investment guide: Bahrain, Property Rights Alliance,
gov.uk]



G4S is the leading global, integrated 
security company, specialising in the 
provision of security services and solutions
to customers. Its mission is to create 
material, sustainable value for customers
and shareholders by being the supply
partner of choice in all its markets. G4S 
is quoted on the London Stock Exchange
and has a secondary stock exchange 
listing in Copenhagen. The company is
active in around 90 countries and has
more than 550,000 employees. 

G4S Bahrain has been operating in the 
island since 1993 with more than 600
employees. It provides top-of-the-line 
integrated security solutions which 
include manned security services; 
event security; emergency response;
cash, valuables and ATM management;
Cash360 Deposita machines; electronic
security systems; firefighting systems and
products,  security consultancy services
and facilities management services. 

The company has achieved the ISO
14001:2015 certification, an international
standard for Environmental Management
System (EMS). Certification was awarded
after a comprehensive set of audits 
conducted by a reputable certifying body.

The group’s approach to corporate social
responsibility (CSR) is firmly embedded 
in its business processes, and the EMS
provides an extensive framework of 
environmental responsibilities which 
support the CSR strategy. To meet the
EMS framework, the G4S Bahrain team 
is committed to continually enhance its
quality, health, safety and environment
performances, to protect the environ-
ment, to prevent pollution and to strive
to prevent injury to employees and other
interested parties within their control – 
a key priority for G4S. 

The ISO 14001certification followed the
successful recertification of ISO

International Standards
G4S Bahrain is globally certified across multiple
operational and management disciplines.



9001:2015 for Quality Management 
System (QMS) and OHSAS 18001:2007 
for Occupational Health and Safety 
Assessment Series (OHSAS), demonstrat-
ing the business’ ability to consistently 
provide quality products and services
that meet customer regulatory require-
ments as well as ensure the health and
safety of employees.

“We are pleased to achieve the esteemed
ISO 14001:2015 certification as well as be
recertified in ISO 9001:2015 and OHSAS
18001:2007 international standards. 

This demonstrates our commitment to
continually improve our services and
create a sustainable business to protect
and preserve our environment. In regard
to the health and safety of our employees,
our goal is zero harm as we are passion-
ate about safety, security and service 
excellence. This means we will prioritise
safety management to protect the health
and well-being of our colleagues and
those around us,” said Sumaira Yasmin,
managing director, G4S Bahrain.

“Many thanks to the commitment 
and hard work of the entire team.” 

In addition to its recent achievement, the
company has been granted an extension
of the official manpower limit from 500
to 750 guards, which means G4S can hire
more guards and secure more customer
properties. Furthermore, it is in the
process of opening up a new facilities
management, manpower recruitment
service and new guarding company
within the year, thus ensuring business
growth and maintaining its reputation 
as one of the most recognised private 
security companies in Bahrain setting the
standard for quality and performance.

Call +973 17714409, 17710994 or visit
www.g4s.com/en-bh



BAHRAIn

Bahrain has the most diversified economy in 
the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) and is
slowly moving away from dependence on oil
and gas. 
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Innovation is key to the success of the
Institute and new ideas include our
New Exporter package. This allows a
business to enter a new market secure
in the knowledge that they have an 
understanding of how they will operate
and comply with any specific 
regulations and standards. Practical
help and assistance is always 
available from the Institute so any 
additional training can be tailored 
to the business and the team that 
needs the knowledge. 

The work of the IOE&IT also extends 
to representing membership views.
Knowledge gained from our members’
feedback, those who get involved with

the forums and Special Interest
Groups, and those who attend our
training courses or study with us, 
enables us to represent the industry at
government levels in both the process
and delivery of policy for international
trade. These views also help us to 
ensure that the training programmes
are effective and pertinent to the 
industry needs. Our Diploma in World
Customs Compliance and Regulation
is testament to the way we listen to our
members’ needs. This was driven by
Nissan, Adidas, John Lewis and many
others and will neatly dovetail into any
AEO work ensuring that quality 
standards are met at manager and 
junior staffing levels. 

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

What does membership of the Institute of Export & 
International Trade mean? 
To most the Institute of Export & International Trade simply plods away providing
much needed qualifications to professionalise the industry however, did you realise
that our helpline is one of the busiest and best in the industry? It’s all part of 
membership and, if you need more than a phone call, we can put together a project
to fulfil your needs. 2015 saw the launch of our Technical Help for Exporters that 
recognises the volume of legislation and regulation that covers our industry and
gives you the comfort of knowing that if you don’t know, you know someone who does! 
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Starting in 1935, the Institute committed
itself to building competence and 
growing confidence for businesses
trading in goods and services, which 
at the time, was a far reaching remit.
Over the years this remit has seen us
develop from simply providing training
in short course format over a day, or
perhaps two, into a fully-fledged Ofqual
Awarding Organisation that operates
specifically to deliver international
trade education. 

This status allows our individual 
members and corporates alike to be
sure that they are part of a quality 
organisation with plans for growth 
integrated with a sustainable future 
for the global prosperity of UKPlc.  

Part of our work includes mapping 
existing qualifications to roles and 
producing training needs analyses 
to ensure staffing progression and 
continuity. The need to upskill our
workforce to match those of our 
competitors is a key element vital for
growth. Our focus is on recognising
that International trade needs specific
knowledge, coupled with a strong 
belief that we must start to talk to 

our young people at an earlier stage. 
We need to engage the next generation
in thinking about how world trade
works and how it will be great for
British businesses. They need to know
how items arrive in the shops which, in
turn, will begin to spark ideas. As these
young people join companies they will
bring a fresh outlook that all things are
possible especially if you operate 
globally. 

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

     
     
   

   

   
    

    
 

    
  

   
 

    

  
  

          

Why not call us and get involved? 
It has never been more important that
we act as an industry to help – we
need experts and commitment to 
professionalising international trade
from businesses large and small – 
help your institute to stay ahead of 
the curve. 

Institute of Export 
& International Trade
Export House
Minerva Business Park, Lynch Wood,
Peterborough, Cambridgeshire,
PE2 6FT, UK
Telephone: +44(0)1733 - 404400
Fax: +44(0)1733 - 404444

www.export.org.uk



Choosing a great export training partner can really help your company take off in
international trade! We can help develop new ideas and find ways to drive down
costs and produce sustainable improvements in your export business. Our team of
experts can help with questions on documentation, export controls, Bribery Act,
Customs & VAT procedures, regulatory and compliance issues, insurance issues,
payment terms, transport and logistics...

Join us today

& InTERnATIOnAl TRADE

Call: +44 (0) 1733 404 400  :  email: institute@export.org.uk

Membership  :  Training  :  Qualifications  :  Advice

www.export.org.uk       @ioexport
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IOE&IT Qualifications in brief 
www.export.org.uk/page/qualifications

Level 1 Young International Trader 
(Available electronically)

Level 2 International Trade Logistic 
Operations*

Level 3 Certificate of International Trade
Level 3 Customs Practitioner Award
Certificate in Customs Legislation
and Procedures (Delivered by 
KGH Customs)
Certificate in Customs Duty 
Calculation (Delivered by KGH 
Customs)

Level 4 Diploma in International Trade
Customs Practitioner Award

Level 5 Diploma in International Trade
Diploma in World Customs 
Compliance and Regulations
Foundation Degree jointly delivered
with the University of Plymouth

Level 7 MSc International Trade, Strategy
and Operations with Warwick 
University

Specialist Courses

• Award in International Transport and 
Documentation

• International Marketing Specialist
• Finance of International Trade Specialist
• Selling Services, Software and Skills 

Overseas

Apprenticeships
Working in conjunction with employers and
Universities, the Institute has access to
qualifications which are available now and
funded through the apprenticeship levy,
these apply for professional and degree
qualifications, including Bachelors and 
Masters Degrees.

• International Freight Forwarding 
Specialist Apprenticeship (Level 3)

• Chartered Manager Degree Apprentice-
ship (BSc Professional Management 
Practice) with the University of Plymouth

• Supply Chain Leadership Degree 
Apprenticeship (BSc Professional 
Practice in Supply Chain Leadership) 
with CP Training Services

Using our 4 Pillars of Learning, the IOE&IT
qualifications offer students the opportunity
to apply their learning to their current 
employer, or a business that they know well:

Learning Pillar 1: 
World Business Environment
Learning Pillar 2: 
Market Research & marketing / selling 
in a different culture
Learning Pillar 3: 
Finance of international trade, getting 
paid and how foreign exchange works
Learning Pillar 4: 
Compliance, regulations and logistics 
OR Selling services overseas

*International Trade Logistic Operations is delivered through our approved centres

As part of IOE&IT qualifications, students will plan, research and implement a work-based
project that will act as a useful strategic management tool in each of the main topics they
study.  Each paper will produce a useful piece of work based on the company’s own product
or offering which allows the student to gain new knowledge to be useful in the business. 
This style of work-based projects ensures that all study is relevant to the student’s business
context. Working on these projects using the organisation’s structure provides excellent 
opportunities for the student to apply theoretical ideas in real world contexts.

The employee will essentially become a practitioner-researcher to undertake each project, 
producing pieces of work with the potential to yield tangible benefits for the sponsor business –
a benefit for both the student who qualifies and the employer who has a set of reports 
specifically about exporting and their own business.
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Urgent assistance

If you are in Bahrain and you need 
urgent help (for example, you have
been attacked, arrested or someone 
has died), call +973 17574100. If you are
in the UK and worried about a British 
national in Bahrain, call 020 7008 1500.

Get an emergency travel document
You can apply for an emergency travel
document if you are abroad and your
passport has been lost or stolen, 
damaged or expired, and you 
cannot get a new or replacement 

passport in time to travel here:
https://www.gov.uk/emergency-travel-
document.

If the person needing the emergency
travel document is under 16, a parent 
or guardian should apply on their behalf.

If you are travelling in more than 3
weeks, check if you can get a new or
replacement passport in time to travel
here: https://www.gov.uk/renew-adult-
passport.

The British Embassy Manama maintains and 
develops relations between the UK and Bahrain.

Find out more on their UK and Bahrain news page here:
https://www.gov.uk/world/bahrain/news. 

They provide services to British nationals living in and visiting Bahrain. 

You can access UK Government services while in Bahrain here: 
https://www.gov.uk/world/bahrain.



If you are not a British citizen or have
not had a British passport before
If you are not sure, check if you are a
British citizen here: https://www.gov.uk/
check-british-citizenship.

If you are not a British citizen but think
you may be eligible, contact the British
Embassy Manama to apply for an 
emergency travel document here:
https://www.gov.uk/world/organisations
/british-embassy-manama#contact-us.

Other consular services

notarial and documentary services
The British Embassy Manama offer some
notarial services, including administer 
an affirmation or affidavit, witness a 
signature and make a certified copy 
of some UK documents. See the full list
of notarial and documentary services
they provide here: https://www.gov.uk/
guidance/notarial-and-documentary-
services-guide-for-bahrain.

Consular fees
See the full list of consular fees in Bahrain
here: https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/bahrain-consular-fees.

British Embassy Manama
21 Government Avenue 
Manama 306
P O Box 114 Manama
Bahrain

Switchboard:
+ 973 17574100

Use their contact form for consular
enquiries:
https://www.contact-embassy.service
.gov.uk/?country=Bahrain&post=British
%20Embassy%20Manama

Opening hours:
Sunday to Thursday, 04:30am to
11:30am GMT
Sunday to Thursday, 07:30am to
02:30pm Local Time

Consular counter hours:
Sunday and Tuesday: 08:00am to
10:00am. You will need to make an 
appointment in advance for all routine
notarial and documentary services.
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The Institute of Export & 
International Trade
Export House
Minerva Business Park
Lynch Wood
Peterborough 
PE2 6FT, UK

T: +44 (0) 1733 404400
www.export.org.uk

Department for International Trade (DIT)

Department for International 
Trade (DIT)

If you have a specific enquiry
about the Bahrain market which
is not addressed by the information
in this guide, you may contact:

E: enquiries@trade.gov.uk
T: +44 (0)20 7215 5000 

Otherwise contact DIT at the
British Embassy Bahrain directly,
for more information and advice
on opportunities for doing 
business in Bahrain:

UK Department for International
Trade Bahrain

British Embassy
21 Govt Avenue
Manama
Bahrain

E: DITBahrain@fco.gov.uk
T: +973 17 574 100 
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UK Export Finance

UK Export Finance is the UK’s export
credit agency. UKEF’s mission is to
ensure that no viable UK export fails
for lack of finance or insurance from
the private sector, while operating
at no net cost to the taxpayer.

We help UK companies of all sizes
and in all sectors win, fulfil and get
paid for export contracts. We 
provide insurance to exporters and
guarantees to banks to share the
risks of providing export finance. 
In addition, we can make loans 
to overseas buyers of goods and
services from the UK.

As the world's first export credit
agency, established in 1919, we've
been innovating since day one.

• Last year, we provided £2.5 
billion of support for UK exports, 
helping 191 companies sell to 75 
markets around the world.

• 77% of all companies we 
supported were small to 
medium-sized businesses.

• We also lent £666 million directly 
to overseas buyers to help them 
buy from the UK - more than 
double the amount for 2016 to 
2017.

New business enquiries: 
To check your eligibility for trade 
finance and insurance: Visit: 
www.great.gov.uk/get-finance

T: +44 (0) 20 7271 8010
E: customer.service@ukexport
finance.gov.uk
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Bahrain British Business Forum (BBBF)

Bahrain British Business Forum
(BBBF)
PO Box 10051
Manama
Kingdom of Bahrain

T: 1781 3488
F: 1781 3489
E: bbbfmemberships@batelco.com.bh 

law

Al Tamimi & Company
Bahrain Financial Harbour, 
West Tower, 13th floor, Suite 1304,
Office 13B, Building 1459,
Block 346, Manama, Bahrain

T: +973 17 108 919
F: +973 17 104 776
E: infobahrain@tamimi.com

www.tamimi.com

Contact Person
Foutoun Hajjar
Partner, Head of Office - Bahrain

T: +973 17 108 919
E: f.hajjar@tamimi.com

British Expertise
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British Expertise
23 Grafton Street
London 
W1S 4EY

T: +44 (0) 20 7824 1920
F: +44 (0) 20 7824 1929

www.britishexpertise.org
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Shipping and Freight Forwarding

Aztek International Freight ltd.
Albion House
64 Vicar Lane, Bradford
West Yorkshire, BD1 5AH

Tel: +441274303280

Contacts:
Sea/Airfreight
Craig Marshall
craig@aztekintl.com

Jon Turner
jon@aztekintl.com

Monika Siwczak
monika@aztekintl.com

Sales
Simon Alexander
simon@aztekintl.com
Mobile: +447919521783

Director
Nick Driver
nick@aztekintl.com
Mobile: +447931370542

www.aztekintl.com

Accountants/Professional Business Services

Baker Tilly Bahrain
5th Platinum Tower
Seef Area
Manama
Kingdom of Bahrain

T: 00973 17531661
E: eyad@bakertillyjfc.com 
www.bakertillyjfc.com

Contact name
Eyad Husain
Country Head
T: 00973 39696913
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The British School of Bahrain
Physical Address:
Building 1080
Road 1425, Block 1014
Hamala, Kingdom of Bahrain

Postal Address: 
British School of Bahrain
PO Box 30733
Budaiya, Kingdom of Bahrain

www.britishschoolbahrain.com/

Academies contacts 
T: +973 1761 0943 or +973 1761 0973
E: academies@thebsbh.com

Infants’ Reception
T: +973 17610891 
E: receptioninfants@thebsbh.com

Juniors’ Reception
T: +973 17610892 
E: receptionjuniors@thebsbh.com

Seniors’ Reception
T: +973 17610893  
E: receptionseniors@thebsbh.com

Admissions 
T: +973 17610944 
E: admissions@thebsbh.com

HR
E: hrcv@thebsbh.com

Social media accounts
Instagram: @BritishSchoolBahrain
Twitter: @thebsbh
Facebook: @British School of Bahrain
Youtube: BSB YouTube 

Working hours 
Sunday to Thursday 7:30 am to 3:30 pm
During holidays 8:00 am to 2:00 pm
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Shipping and Freight Forwarding

Celerity Shipping & Forwarding
Co. W.l.l
P.O.Box 20557
Juffair - Bahrain

Tel: 00973 17533415

Fax: 00973 17532558

Security/Risk Management Services

Travel/Business Travel & MICE Services

GO Gosaibi Travel
Office 103, Car Parks Building
Opp. Downtown Rotana
Government Avenue
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

T: +973 1721 2333
F: +973 1721 5501
E: gobahrain@gosaibitravel.com

G4S BAHRAIn
Bldg. 381/383, Road 7307, Block 373
Bughazal, P.O. Box 15193 
Manama
Kingdom of Bahrain

T: +973 17714409 / 17710994
F: +973 17716577

E: security@bh.g4s.com
www.g4s.com/en-bh

G4S plc
5th Floor, Southside
105 Victoria Street
London SW1E 6QT 
United Kingdom

T: +44 (0)208 770 7000
www.g4s.com
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Banking/Financial Services

national Bank of Bahrain 
Main Call Centre
T: +973 17214433

Mohamed Fouad Kamal
MNC Relationship Manager, 
Corporate & Institutional 
Investment Banking

T: +973 17205703
E: Mohamed.Fouad@nbbonline.com

Kubra Aghayar
Head-Corporate & Institutional 
Investment Banking Middle office

T: +973 17205441
E: Kubra.Aghayar@nbbonline.com

Office Solutions & Business Centre

PRIME Instant Offices & Business
Centre
Al Jasrah Tower
Building 95, Road 1702
Block 317, Diplomatic Area
Kingdom of Bahrain

E: contact@primeinstantoffices.com
T: +973 1757 0400

Architecture/Design

MAS Architecture
London
22 Conduit Street
London, W1S 2XR

Bahrain
Office 212, Platinum Tower
Seef, Kingdom of Bahrain

E: info@mas-architecture.co.uk 
www.mas-architecture.co.uk
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Trade shows

A trade show is a method of promoting a business 
through the exhibition of goods and services, an 
organised exhibition of products, based on a central
theme, where manufacturers meet to show their 
products to potential buyers.

Taking part in overseas exhibitions is an effective way for you to test markets, attract
customers, appoint agents or distributors and make sales. DIT's Tradeshow Access 
Programme (TAP) provides grant support for eligible SME firms to attend trade shows
overseas.

Participation is usually as part of a group, a great advantage for inexperienced 
businesses, and is usually led by one of DIT's Accredited Trade Associations (ATOs). 
ATOs work with DIT to raise the profile of UK groups and sectors at key exhibitions. 
For more information visit: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tradeshow-access-programme.

IOE&IT’s events:
www.export.org.uk/events/event
_list.asp

10 Times
(formerly BizTradeShows.com): 
https://10times.com/bahrain

British Expertise Events:
https://www.britishexpertise.org/
events/

EventsEye.com online database:
www.eventseye.com

DIT online events search facility:
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/
ehome/index.php?eventid=20018
3029&
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Country information:

BBC website:  
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/country_
profiles/default.stm

FCO Country Profile:  
https://www.gov.uk/foreign-travel-
advice/bahrain

Culture & communications:

ICC – The international language 
association:  
http://www.icc-languages.eu/

Customs & regulations:

HM Revenue & Customs:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/hm-revenue-customs

Economic information:

The Economist:  
https://www.economist.com/topics

Trading Economics:  
www.tradingeconomics.com

Export control:

Export Control Joint Unit: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/beginners
-guide-to-export-controls

Export finance & insurance:

British Insurance Brokers Association (BIBA):
www.biba.org.uk

UK Export Finance (formerly ECGD):  
www.gov.uk/government/organisations
/uk-export-finance

Intellectual Property:

Intellectual Property Office: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/intellectual-property-office

World Intellectual Property Organization
(WIPO): 
http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/text.jsp?
file_id=288514

Standards & technical regulations:

British Standards Institution (BSI):  
https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/
industries-and-sectors/import-export/

Export Control Joint Unit (ECJU):  
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/export-control-organisation

Intellectual Property Office:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/intellectual-property-office

National Physical Laboratory:  
http://www.npl.co.uk/

Useful links
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Trade statistics:

HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC):  
https://www.uktradeinfo.com/statistics/
buildyourowntables/pages/table.aspx

National Statistics Information:   
https://www.gov.uk/search/research-
and-statistics?content_store_document
_type=upcoming_statistics

Office for National Statistics:    
http://www.ons.gov.uk/

Trade shows:

British Expertise Events:  
https://www.britishexpertise.org/events/

EventsEye.com online database:  
www.eventseye.com

DIT Events Portal:  
https://www.events.great.gov.uk/ehome
/index.php?eventid=200183029&

Travel advice:

FCO Travel:   
www.gov.uk/browse/abroad

FCO Foreign Travel Insurance:   
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/foreign-
travel-insurance

Healthcare abroad:

Travel Health:    
www.travelhealth.co.uk

TravelHealthPro:    
https://travelhealthpro.org.uk/countries

NHS (Scotland):    
http://www.fitfortravel.nhs.uk/
destinations.aspx

NHS Choices:     
https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/
healthcare-abroad/

International trade:

British Chambers of Commerce (BCC):     
www.britishchambers.org.uk

British Council: 
www.britishcouncil.org

British Expertise:    
www.britishexpertise.org

British Franchise Association:    
http://www.thebfa.org/international

Centre for the Protection of National 
Infrastructure (CPNI):     
http://www.cpni.gov.uk/

Confederation of British Industry (CBI):     
www.cbi.org.uk

Department for Business, Energy & 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS):     
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-for-business-
energy-and-industrial-strategy  



Visit the Website and download the free Mobile App117

Department for International Trade (DIT):     
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/department-for-
international-trade

DIT E-Exporting Programme:      
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e-exporting

Exporting is GREAT:      
https://www.great.gov.uk/

Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO):      
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/
foreign-commonwealth-office

Heritage Foundation Index of Economic
Freedom:       
https://www.heritage.org/index/ranking

Institute of Directors (IoD):        
www.iod.com

Institute of Export & International Trade
(IOE&IT):        
www.export.org.uk

International Monetary Fund (IMF):       
http://www.imf.org/external/index.htm

Market Access Database:       
http://madb.europa.eu/madb/
indexPubli.htm

Open to Export:       
http://opentoexport.com/

Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD):       
http://www.oecd.org/

Overseas Business Risk:        
https://www.gov.uk/government/
collections/overseas-business-risk

Transparency International:         
http://www.transparency.org/

UK Trade Tariff:         
https://www.gov.uk/trade-tariff

UK Visas:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/
organisations/uk-visas-and-immigration

World Bank Group economy rankings:           
http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/rankings

World Economic Forum Global 
Competitiveness Report:           
http://reports.weforum.org/global-
competitiveness-report-2019/

Bahrain websites:

Bahrain Airport:   
http://www.bahrainairport.com/

Bahrain Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry (BCCI):    
https://www.bcci.bh/en

Bahrain Chamber of Dispute Resolution:    
https://www.bcdr-aaa.org/

Bahrain e-Government:    
https://www.bahrain.bh

Bahrain e-Visas:     
https://www.evisa.gov.bh/



Bahrain Tourism & Exhibitions Authority
(BTEA):      
http://www.btea.bh/tourism-identity

Customs Affairs Directorate:      
http://www.bahraincustoms.gov.bh/

Economic Development Board Bahrain
(EDB):       
https://bahrainedb.com/

Embassy of the Kingdom of Bahrain in
the UK:       
http://www.bahrainembassy.co.uk/

Gulf Air:        
https://www.gulfair.com/

Labour Market Regulatory Authority:         
http://lmra.bh/portal/en/home

Ministry of Education:          
http://www.moe.gov.bh/?lan=en

Ministry of Electricity and Water Affairs:           
http://www.ewa.bh/en

Ministry of Finance and National 
Economy:            
https://www.mofne.gov.bh/

Ministry of Foreign Affairs:             
https://www.mofa.gov.bh/

Ministry of Health:             
https://www.moh.gov.bh/

Ministry of Housing:              
http://www.housing.gov.bh/en/Pages/
default.aspx

Ministry of Industry, Commerce and
Tourism (MOIC):              
http://www.moic.gov.bh/en/Pages/
default.aspx

Ministry of Information Affairs:              
https://www.mia.gov.bh/

Ministry of Interior:               
http://www.interior.gov.bh/en/

Ministry of Justice, Islamic Affairs and 
Endowment:                
https://www.moj.gov.bh/

Ministry of Labour and Social 
Development:                
http://www.mlsd.gov.bh/en

Ministry of Transportation and 
Telecommunications:                 
https://www.mtt.gov.bh/

Ministry of Works, Municipalities Affairs
and Urban Planning:                 
https://www.mun.gov.bh/portal/
indexEn.jsp

National Oil and Gas Authority:                 
http://www.noga.gov.bh/noga/

Public Tender Board:                 
http://www.tenderboard.gov.bh/
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Disclaimer

Whereas every effort has been made to
ensure that the information given in this
Guide is accurate, neither International
Market Advisor (IMA), the Institute of 
Export & International Trade (IOE&IT), 
the British Embassy Manama, the Bahrain
British Business Forum (BBBF), UK Export 
Finance (UKEF), Department for 
International Trade (DIT), or the Foreign 
& Commonwealth Office (FCO), accept
liability for any errors, omissions or 
misleading statements and no warranty
is given or responsibility accepted as to
the standing of any individual, firm, 
company or other organisation 
mentioned. 

The purpose of the Doing Business
Guides, prepared by International 
Market Advisor (IMA) is to provide 
information to help recipients form their
own judgments about making business
decisions as to whether to invest or 
operate in a particular country. The
report's contents were believed (at the
time that the report was prepared) to 
be reliable, but no representations or
warranties, express or implied, are made
or given by IMA, the IOE&IT, the British
Embassy Manama, the Bahrain British
Business Forum (BBBF), UKEF, DIT or the
Foreign and Commonwealth Office
(FCO) as to the accuracy of the report,
its completeness or its suitability for any
purpose. 

In particular, none of the report's 
contents should be construed as advice
or solicitation to purchase or sell securities,
commodities or any other form of financial
instrument. No liability is accepted by
IMA, IOE&IT, the British Embassy Manama,
the Bahrain British Business Forum (BBBF),
UKEF, DIT, or the FCO for any loss or 
damage (whether consequential or 
otherwise) which may arise out of or in
connection with the report. No warranty
is given, or responsibility accepted as 
to the standing of any individual, firm,
company or other organisation 
mentioned.

Contains public sector information
licensed under the Open Government 
Licence v3.0.
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Location: Middle East, archipelago in the Persian 
Gulf, east of Saudi Arabia

Area: 710 km2

Population: 1.48 million

Urban population: 89.3%

Capital city: Manama

GDP per capita: US $25,482.7

Languages: Arabic (official), English, Farsi, Urdu

Religions: Muslim 73.7%, Christian 9.3%, 
Jewish 0.1%, other 16.9% (2017 est.)

Government type: constitutional monarchy

Legal system: mixed legal system of Islamic law, 
English common law, Egyptian civil, criminal, and 
commercial codes; customary law

Currency: Bahraini Dinar (BHD)

Climate: arid; mild, pleasant winters; very hot, 
humid summers

Natural resources: oil, associated and non-
associated natural gas, fish, pearls

Time difference: UTC+3

Internet country code: .bh

National holiday: National Day, 16th December 
(1971)

National symbols: a red field surmounted by a 
white serrated band with five white points; national 
colours: red, white

[Source: FCO Economics Unit, CIA World Factbook
(November 2019)]

Quick facts



www.export.org.uk       @ioexport

Choosing a great export training partner can really help your company take off in
the export trade! We can help develop new ideas and find ways to drive down
costs and produce sustainable improvements in your export business. Join us today

Call: +44 (0) 1733 404 400  :  email: institute@export.org.uk

Membership  :  Training  :  Qualifications  :  Advice




